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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Good afternoon.

          3  I'm Councilwoman Helen Foster. This is the Committee

          4  on Parks and Recreation, and today we will be

          5  hearing three Intros, Intro. 327, Intro. 471-A and

          6  Intro. 326.

          7                 Intro. 327 will amend the

          8  Administrative Code of the City of New York in

          9  relation to concession contracts on property under

         10  the jurisdiction of the Parks Department.

         11                 This bill will require that all

         12  concession revenues be directed to help augment the

         13  maintenance and operation budget of the Department.

         14                 Enacting Intro. 471-A will continue

         15  in tradition of honoring those who have given so

         16  much to our great City, especially our fallen

         17  heroes.

         18                 This bill will add names of those

         19  heroes to streets, parks and thoroughfares as a

         20  tribute to the contribution to the people of the

         21  City of New York and the State of New York.

         22                 Lastly, we will be considering Intro.

         23  326, that would require appropriate agencies to make

         24  available on the City's official website,

         25  biographical information pertaining to all street
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          2  names.

          3                 Before we get started, let me

          4  introduce my colleagues that are here. We are joined

          5  by Council Member Bob Jackson from Manhattan,

          6  Council Member Yvette Clarke from Brooklyn, Council

          7  Member Latitia James from Brooklyn, Council Member

          8  Gale Brewer from Manhattan, Council Member Joe

          9  Addabbo from Queens. We have Chima who works with

         10  the Committee, and Council Member Erik Dilan from

         11  Brooklyn, and Tom Curry, who also works with the

         12  Committee.

         13                 First we are going to hear testimony

         14  from those, the Police Department and the Fire

         15  Department, about the street name changes, as well

         16  as others that are here.

         17                 Let me say that we have a great list

         18  of name changes, and I think it's appropriate that

         19  we are introducing legislation to make sure the

         20  information on all these street name changes are

         21  available on the City website.

         22                 For example, today we'll be

         23  entertaining changing names having to do with two

         24  former Council members, of course, James Davis, who

         25  was murdered in the Chambers, but also Council
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          2  Member Mary Pinkett, who was the first Councilwoman

          3  elected to City office.

          4                 We're going to be entertaining

          5  changing the name for a former POW, Purple Heart,

          6  African Burial Ground, and it's important that kids

          7  in this City, as well as adults, know what a rich

          8  history we have and the people that have contributed

          9  to it.

         10                 So, I know there are some members in

         11  the Council that don't think street name change has

         12  a place, and I'm one of those people that disagree.

         13  I think it's an excellent way to honor men and women

         14  who have given so much to New York City.

         15                 That having been said, I will call

         16  the first panel.

         17                 William Chilson, FDNY, and Suzanne

         18  Petito, NYPD. Thank you.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: Good

         20  afternoon, Madam Chair and members of the City

         21  Council.

         22                 I'm Assistant Commissioner Susan

         23  Petito, of the New York City Police Department,

         24  Office of the Deputy Commissioner of Legal Matters,

         25  and I'm honored to be here today on behalf of the
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          2  New York City Police Department to express our

          3  support and gratitude for the bill before you.

          4                 The bill celebrates many precious

          5  lives, including heroic members of the New York City

          6  Police and Fire Department.

          7                 Sadly, we've met before to honor the

          8  heroes of September 11th. Today we honor Police

          9  Officer Ronald Kloepfer, who was assigned to

         10  emergency service Squad No. 7, when he perished at

         11  the World Trade Center.

         12                 But the bill also honors several

         13  other members of the Police Department, each one

         14  unique and deserving of a special place in our

         15  memories and hearts. Detective Frank Collins, Police

         16  Officer John Darcy, Police Officer Anthony Dwyer,

         17  Police Officer Thomas O'Dea, and School Crossing

         18  Guard, Phyliss Ann Pizzuto.

         19                 I would also especially like to

         20  acknowledge one of the individuals honored, as both

         21  a formal police officer and as a dynamic and

         22  unforgettable member of the City Council, Council

         23  Member James E. Davis.

         24                 It's important to remember that while

         25  we continue to grieve for the heroes we lost on
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          2  September 11th, we also grieve and remember all of

          3  the members of the Police Department families whom

          4  we've lost, who dedicated their lives to law

          5  enforcement service to the public.

          6                 I'd like to thank you for allowing me

          7  to speak in support of this bill, to express our

          8  heavy sadness and our deep pride in the men and

          9  women who willingly serve the people of our City at

         10  the risk of their own lives. Thank you for

         11  remembering them with this touching tribute.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         13                 MR. CHILSON: Good afternoon. Good

         14  afternoon, Chairperson Foster, and Council Members.

         15  My name is Chief William Chilson, and I'm here

         16  representing the Manhattan Borough Commander of the

         17  New York City Fire Department.

         18                 Thank you for allowing me the

         19  opportunity to testify in regard to the proposed

         20  local law renaming several City streets after fallen

         21  New York City Fire Department personnel.

         22                 As you know, the past three years

         23  have been the most difficult time the Department and

         24  the City have ever faced.

         25                 While we are rebuilding and
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          2  recovering from the awful events of September 11th,

          3  we do so with the memories of our fallen brother

          4  firefighters always on our minds.

          5                 The heroic sacrifices they made

          6  during the course of saving others, steal our

          7  resolve to move forward.

          8                 We believe that renaming City streets

          9  is an appropriate, tangible and special way to honor

         10  our fallen heroes. These men, after all, drove those

         11  streets every day to save life and property of

         12  others.

         13                 For these reasons the Fire Department

         14  commends and supports the renaming of the City

         15  streets in honor of those who made the supreme

         16  sacrifice on September 11th, 2001.

         17                 And in the case of Firefighter Thomas

         18  Brick, he died in line of duty less than one year

         19  ago.

         20                 Thank you, again, for the opportunity

         21  to testify in regard to this very appropriate local

         22  law, and for recognizing the heroic action of former

         23  firefighters this way.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         25  much. And, again, this Committee, this Council, this

                                                            10

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  City, we appreciate what was done not only September

          3  11th, but each and every day. So, thank you for

          4  coming.

          5                 Do any of my colleagues have any

          6  questions, comments?

          7                 Thank you. Thank you very much. And

          8  we've been joined by Council Member Serrano, State

          9  Senator-elect Serrano. Congratulations.

         10                 Our next panel is Raisa Chermina,

         11  Susanna Zaslavskaya. I'm sorry that I butchered. And

         12  Alex Presman, or is it Presman Alex. You'll have two

         13  minutes.

         14                 MS. CHERMINA: Dear distinguished

         15  members of the Committee. My name is Raisa Chermina

         16  and I am President of Be Proud Foundation. I am here

         17  today to ask you to rename street in the honor of

         18  heroes who serve this country.

         19                 I want to show you a picture of this

         20  brave man. The first time march in the Fifth Avenue,

         21  I'll use one of our expressions, US Marine Sergeant.

         22  This street will be named Heroes of Operation Iraqi

         23  Freedom. It is a small token of our appreciation,

         24  but it means a great deal to the family of this

         25  hero.
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          2                 Today with me is mother of the

          3  serviceman who is now in Iraq, her name is Susanna

          4  Zaslavskaya, and Sergeant Alex Presman, who was

          5  injured in the line of duty and received Purple

          6  Heart.

          7                 They will testify in front of you and

          8  speak from their heart why is the street renaming

          9  ceremony so vital.

         10                 We must honor our children and never

         11  forget the sacrifice they made for our nation. Thank

         12  you very much.

         13                 MS. ZASLAVSKAYA: Good afternoon,

         14  ladies and gentlemen. My name is Susanna

         15  Zaslavskaya, and I am here to represent the parents,

         16  parents and family of the brave men and women in our

         17  great City.

         18                 Those men and women that I am

         19  referring to are those that are serving our country

         20  countless days and nights.

         21                 On a personal note. My family and I

         22  came to America in 1989. I am registered nurse,

         23  working at Brookdale Hospital Medical Center for 13

         24  years. My husband is a bookkeeper. My two boys have

         25  chosen very diverse jobs for themselves. My oldest
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          2  son is a rabbi, and my younger son, in the United

          3  States Marine Corps, currently serving in Iraq.

          4                 The men and women of our great City,

          5  amongst others, who are fighting against terrorism,

          6  in order to protect our country and its purpose to

          7  preserve its freedom. We, as the parents, are

          8  extremely proud of each and every individual who is

          9  making an effort to keep the peace.

         10                 Our children who are currently

         11  stationed in Iraq and Afghanistan are performing

         12  their military duties overseas.

         13                 Even so, some of those devoted men

         14  and women were not born in America, they have made

         15  America their home.

         16                 I feel that in order to show our

         17  appreciation towards those individuals, it is

         18  crucial to place the men and women who appreciate us

         19  and our country so much as to risk their life.

         20                 I have come here today to receive

         21  your approval to rename one of the streets in the

         22  heart of Brooklyn. By renaming this street, we are

         23  showing our pride, dedication and gratitude to the

         24  sacrifices these young people are making.

         25                 This is for our children who return
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          2  from the war, for those who are preparing for

          3  deployment, along with the ones who are still

          4  serving overseas. We want every person to recognize

          5  them.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. I'm

          7  going to need you to wrap up, because you're past

          8  the two minutes.

          9                 MS. ZASLAVSKAYA: I'm sorry.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: If you can just

         11  conclude, please.

         12                 MS. ZASLAVSKAYA: Yes, I am done.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay, thank you.

         14                 MS. ZASLAVSKAYA: Upcoming generation

         15  need to remember their involvement.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         17                 MS. ZASLAVSKAYA: Yes.

         18                 MR. PRESMAN: Members of the

         19  Committee, I want to ask you to vote for this name

         20  changing of the street.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Can you speak

         22  right into the mic so we can hear you, please?

         23                 MR. PRESMAN: Sorry about that.

         24                 It's important not only for the

         25  community, but for every soldier overseas.
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          2                 We have to honor the heroes we lost,

          3  people who made ultimate sacrifice. I still have

          4  friends over there who risk their life every day and

          5  it's important for them to know that people,

          6  regardless of their political views support and

          7  honor them. I hope you would make the right

          8  decision, and I thank you for that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         10  much.

         11                 We're going to take a break in the

         12  testimony and call for the vote.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Foster.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Aye on all.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: Addabbo.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: Brewer.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I vote aye.

         19  Particularly for the great jazz musician, Mr.

         20  O'Farrell, and for the great choreographer, Mr.

         21  Robbins. I vote aye.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Dilan.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: I proudly vote

         24  aye on all on behalf of every individual that has

         25  serviced this country and passed away in that line
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          2  of service.

          3                 Also, for, you know, our civil

          4  servants who had passed away in the line of duty,

          5  and also for someone who is particularly a good

          6  friend of mine, I know is looking down on this

          7  hearing very proudly, Ms. Sesie Toro Malane, who was

          8  to me, while she was never elected to any position,

          9  was an ultimate representative of my district, and I

         10  know the neighborhood of Cypress Hills will sure

         11  miss Sesie and all her great contributions to the

         12  Cypress community.

         13                 So, with that, I proudly vote aye on

         14  all.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: Jackson.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: Serrano.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SERRANO: Aye.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: James.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I vote aye in

         21  memory of the late Councilman James Davis, in member

         22  of a late Council Member Mary Pinkett, in memory of

         23  all of the brave men and women who have served our

         24  country, be they with us now and in the future and

         25  those who are living and those who have passed on,
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          2  may they rest in peace.

          3                 I vote aye.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gallagher.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: I proudly

          6  vote aye.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Jackson.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Madam Chair,

          9  may I be excused to explain my vote?

         10                 I have in this intro, there are

         11  several street name changes that are in my district,

         12  and one is by the name of John Patrick Burnside Way,

         13  just for a matter of correction, the Patrick,

         14  there's an i in there, so we just need to correct

         15  that so it's appropriate. And then there is the

         16  Inwood Heroes of 9/11 Way. And also Mr. Ollie has

         17  individuals that are going to give testimony. He's a

         18  legend in his own time with respect to bringing

         19  people up through the sport of basketball, a park is

         20  going to be named after him. So, I just wanted to

         21  comment on those, and you'll hear from the Speaker

         22  later, but I proudly vote aye on all.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of eight in

         24  the affirmative, zero in the negative, and no

         25  abstentions, the item is adopted. Council Members,
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          2  please sign the Committee report. Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          4                 And correction for Patrick has

          5  already been made, and this will go to the full

          6  Council, not on November 23rd meeting, but the first

          7  meeting in December.

          8                 Thank you very much.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 Our next panel is Lynne Mueller,

         11  Nathan White, and Judith Mojica.

         12                 MS. MUELLER: Yes, I would like to

         13  thank the Committee very much for supporting the

         14  resolution, and also Gale Brewer for the support of

         15  Arturo "Chico" O'Farrill Street renaming at 88th

         16  Street and West End Avenue, 574 West End Avenue,

         17  it's where Chico O'Farrill lived.

         18                 His wife, Lopito O'Farrill, is with

         19  me today.

         20                 Arturo Chico O'Farrill, the world

         21  renown pioneer of Afro Cuban Jazz Music and composer

         22  of classical music resided, as I said, at 574 West

         23  End Avenue. He lived there for nearly 40 years,

         24  having first arrived in New York City in 1948 from

         25  Havana, Cuba, where he was born, on October 28th,
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          2  1921.

          3                 He developed an international career

          4  as a composer, a ranger and band leader, writing for

          5  artists such as Dizzy Gelespi, Count Besi, Mario

          6  Bowzi, China Poso, Quincy Jones, Bennie Goodman,

          7  Grassi Ello with Macuto and his Afro Cuban Band,

          8  among many others (names spelled phonetically.)

          9                 He was passionately involved in the

         10  musical life in Manhattan, whether composing music

         11  from his home on West 58th Street and West End

         12  Avenue, or from a shady spot in Riverside Park that

         13  he loved so much, writing eloquent Latin jazz in

         14  classical pieces, as well as hugely popular jingle

         15  music for television commercials broadcast

         16  throughout Latin America and the US.

         17                 He performed with his own band, Chico

         18  O'Farrill Afro Cuban Big Band at Birdland, and that

         19  band continues to perform on Sunday evening, led by

         20  his son Arturo O'Farrill.

         21                 I think that is what I would like to

         22  say, and I thank you very much for your support.

         23                 MR. WHITE: Good afternoon, to the

         24  Council, guests. My name is Nathan White and I'm

         25  here in support of the Ollie Edinboro Community
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          2  Organization. We're here to have a park name in

          3  honor of Mr. Ollie Edinboro.

          4                 There are a couple of members of the

          5  organization who will say prayers with me in the

          6  back. We are from the community of Harlem, Bronx,

          7  City of New York, the country of United States.

          8                 I have a little bio I would like to

          9  read regarding Mr. Ollie Edinboro.

         10                 Arlington Edinboro. Mentor, role

         11  model, peregrine of virtue, affectionately known as

         12  "Mr. Ollie" begins apprenticeship as the junior

         13  recreational worker under the guidance of Bill Webb,

         14  Rosa Handsboro and George Gregory of the Work

         15  Progress Administration in the Sherwin A. Society

         16  (phonetic).

         17                 He worked on the Harlem playground on

         18  133rd Street, and while he was working in Abyssinia

         19  Baptist Church, with the Reverend Adam Clayton

         20  Powell, Jr., the Reverend recognized Mr. Ollie

         21  organizational acumen and attention to detail and

         22  commitment and had them coordinate all sports

         23  activities for Abyssinia Baptist Church.

         24                 Mr. Ollie went on to become a sports

         25  writer under the tutelage of Dan Burley, and
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          2  subsequently cover sports for the Amsterdam News.

          3  These are just a few of the stops made by Mr. Ollie

          4  in his life of service to the Harlem community.

          5                 Cited often, and on numerous times

          6  over the years, from his induction into the New York

          7  City Basketball Hall of Fame, to being honored by

          8  the black ministry with their prestigious Pierre

          9  Toussaint Award, he was recognized for his unselfish

         10  devotion and unswathing commitment to youth

         11  development.

         12                 For the generations of youngsters

         13  privileged to be on his teams, he was a peerless

         14  coach, a great communicator and a shepherd. A good

         15  coach improves a game. Mr. Ollie was a great coach.

         16  He improved our lives.

         17                 A forward thinker, Mr. Ollie was

         18  instrumental in organizing mini-basketball leagues.

         19  The Harlem YMCA Boise League for youngsters 12 and

         20  younger, supported by the late Christopher Poussant.

         21  All teams was named after birds to encourage kids in

         22  the league to broaden their education. He duplicated

         23  his success for youngsters 14 and younger with the

         24  Fish League, conducted at the current Young Park on

         25  45th Street. This was sponsored by local business
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          2  people in Harlem, Thomas Green, Henry Booker, and

          3  Willie Roach.

          4                 He then partnered with a life-long

          5  friend John Snooky Walker, another prominent Harlem

          6  entrepreneur and they implemented the Bitty

          7  Basketball League.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Mr. White, I'm

          9  going to ask you to wrap it up, please.

         10                 MR. WHITE: Okay. No problem.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         12                 MR. WHITE: In conclusion, Mr.

         13  Edinboro was a tremendous individual in Harlem. He

         14  touched many lives. I get calls across the country

         15  now speaking in his honor in the things that he had

         16  done for the people of Harlem and the City of New

         17  York. Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         19                 MS. MOJICA: Good afternoon, Council.

         20  I would like to thank you for approving this street

         21  naming. Today's my birthday, so it's a very special

         22  occasion. This is my brother, Dennis Mojica. He was

         23  a firefighter in Rescue 1 for 28 years. He was known

         24  as a "ghetto firefighter", in the busiest houses he

         25  worked. And as a person, as a businessperson, he
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          2  loved his job. I never heard him complain about it.

          3                 His motto was do the right thing.

          4  Every day he was a hero, not just on 9/11. Every day

          5  he went out there. He went scuba diving, whatever it

          6  was, it was train wreck, whatever, they were there,

          7  and as a person, as my brother, I was passionate

          8  about him. He loved life. He loved his family. He

          9  was a patriot, he served in the Navy, and at one

         10  time he was a Naval reservist. He was a guardian of

         11  New York City, of anyone that he could help. And I

         12  can't explain.  Fifty years of life can't be wrapped

         13  up in two minutes, but I thank you, and I want

         14  people, when they look up and they see that name

         15  upon the street, it's to commemorate the way he

         16  lived, not the way he died. Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         18  much. And you can tell by the smile on his face in

         19  that picture that he was full of life.

         20                 Thank you, all, for testifying, and

         21  thank you for coming and allowing us to honor your

         22  husband. I open the floor for any of my colleagues

         23  for any comments.

         24                 Gale. Council Member Brewer.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Just to thank
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          2  the neighbors and friends of the O'Farrill family.

          3  And also to say, not only was he great, I didn't

          4  know him, but I certainly know the son and his

          5  wonderful widow, and know that this is a family that

          6  obviously contributed much in the past and continues

          7  to contribute to our City.

          8                 Thank you very much, and we look

          9  forward to 88th and West End Avenue being a

         10  celebration of a great life and many future Afro

         11  Cuban and young people to be educated about the

         12  great contribution of the O'Farrill family. Thank

         13  you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Yes, thank you.

         15  And thank you for sharing him with us, Mrs.

         16  O'Farrill. Thank you very much.

         17                 We have one more person to testify on

         18  471-A. Before that we're going to hear a statement

         19  from Council Member Perkins.

         20                 We have Rich Kuo.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         22  very much, Madam Chair.

         23                 I just wanted to first thank you for

         24  indulging me and allowing me to make a statement

         25  with regard to Intro. 471-A, in particular with
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          2  regard to the renaming of Elk Street to African

          3  Burial Ground Way. I just want to on behalf of the

          4  community and also the Schomburg Center for Research

          5  and Black Culture, first thank Alan Gerson, our

          6  colleague who represents the area in which the

          7  African Burial Ground is and the local community

          8  board for supporting the renaming of Elk Street to

          9  African Burial Ground Way. The redesignation of Elk

         10  Street as African Burial Ground Way is a long

         11  overdue tribute that will ensure recognition of a

         12  population that contribute much to development in

         13  New York City.

         14                 Founded in 1625, the early City,

         15  located on the southern tip of Manhattan Island,

         16  relied heavily on the labor of enslaved Africans to

         17  build the new colony. Serving as their colony's

         18  first municipal workforce, the enslaved workers

         19  cleared shore lines for shipping, built roads for

         20  transporting people and goods, and cleared land for

         21  homes and farms.

         22                 By the 1630s, the colony's African

         23  workforce lived and worked "uptown," clearing the

         24  Harlem Forest in Northern Manhattan. By the 1700s,

         25  New York City had become the northern hub of slave
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          2  trading activity.

          3                 In 1711 a slave market opened on an

          4  East River Pier at Wall Street in Lower Manhattan.

          5  Slave auctions and sales were held weekly at the

          6  Wall Street market and at many other venues in the

          7  City.

          8                 New York City had an enslaved African

          9  population of about 15 percent during the colonial

         10  era, many other enslaved Africans were shipped from

         11  New York to southern and Caribbean ports.

         12                 Archeologists estimate more than

         13  20,000 enslaved African men, women and children were

         14  buried at the African Burial Ground, which once

         15  covered more than five acres or about five City

         16  blocks in Lower Manhattan. And I might point out

         17  that City Hall is a part of that larger African

         18  Burial Ground era.

         19                 Thank you, again, for allowing me to

         20  make this statement for the record, and for the

         21  support of you and the Committee and my colleagues

         22  in the Council for the belated, but nevertheless

         23  timing renaming of Elk Street to African Burial

         24  Ground Way.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you,

                                                            26

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  Council Member Perkins.

          3                 Richard Kuo. Richard?

          4                 Okay, we have Andra Horsch. And just

          5  let me make it clear, now we have gone off of 471-A.

          6  Oh, hold that thought, I'm sorry. Council Member

          7  Clarke.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you,

          9  Madam Chair. I just wanted to first of all

         10  congratulate the Committee on the passage of Intro.

         11  471-A. There are two pieces of legislation co-naming

         12  two streets within my constituency that I wanted to

         13  highlight, the first being the co-naming of Maple

         14  Street, between Kingston and Albany. After Private

         15  First Class Rayshawn S. Johnson.

         16                 Private First Class Rayshawn S.

         17  Johnson gave his life for this country in Operation

         18  Iraqi Freedom. One of the people of color, a young

         19  man from my community, who serves as an example of

         20  what can happen in a positive way for young people

         21  within our communities, in terms of giving

         22  themselves to service. He serves as a positive role

         23  model from henceforth, children within our community

         24  will have a historic figure from our community they

         25  can look to as a role model in giving life and
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          2  service to their country. That is Private First

          3  Class Rayshawn S. Johnson.

          4                 And, secondly, I share with two of my

          5  colleagues, both Council Member Latitia James and

          6  Council Member Kendall Stewart, a very historic

          7  co-naming of Nostrand Avenue. It will now henceforth

          8  be known as once we do the vote, Toussaint

          9  Louverture Boulevard in the heart of Brooklyn. I

         10  think this is an awesome, awesome step that we're

         11  taking in the 21st century to acknowledge a freedom

         12  fighter who was impacted from the Island Nation of

         13  Haiti straight here to the United States of America.

         14                 He is credited as the father of

         15  liberation for people of African descent and beyond

         16  that was quite responsible for making it possible

         17  for the United States of America to obtain the

         18  Louisiana territory through the Louisiana Purchase.

         19                 So, it is really an honor to know

         20  that we have voted thus far to bring these two names

         21  forward in reflecting a more recent history within

         22  our communities, and I want to thank the Committee

         23  again for your forward thinking and your support.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 And before we hear from Ms. Hirsch,

          3  I'm going to ask Council Member Brewer if she'd like

          4  to speak on 326.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Oh, as

          6  somebody who is concerned about historic

          7  preservation, as I think the Chair said earlier, and

          8  the notion of how does one, when one looks at these

          9  names, know the history? There are a couple of ways

         10  of thinking about it.

         11                 Actually, people in our community

         12  have complained that they don't know somebody who is

         13  up on a sign post, and they want to know why that

         14  person is there. And some people ask if there could

         15  be a plaque on the buildings nearby identifying the

         16  individuals. I'm afraid that in our City, although

         17  that would be a wonderful idea, we actually tried

         18  that in some buildings, and I have to say some

         19  management companies and some owners were not

         20  receptive to the idea. So, I hope that if one, in a

         21  neighborhood, family or friends wanted to do that,

         22  and the nearby building was receptive, that would be

         23  an even better way to identify the person who is,

         24  who we're thinking about, and when we look up we

         25  want to know the history of.
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          2                 So, being somebody who is

          3  technology-oriented, although I know the whole world

          4  is not, but it is a way of communicating, my thought

          5  with this introduction and this bill is where the

          6  family and the friends and the agency and whatever

          7  definition we come up with as the decision-makers

          8  and the stakeholders, want history of that person to

          9  be available to the public, and I know that in some

         10  cases people may not want that information to be

         11  available to the public, one way to do that was to

         12  use the Internet, and the site that is the most

         13  obvious is the so-called official New York City

         14  site, www.nyc.gov, which I patented and the Giuliani

         15  Administration had to get from me, I just want to be

         16  clear about that, but the fact of the matter is that

         17  this is a way of communicating some history to young

         18  school children, as well as to anybody, tourism,

         19  resident, so on, and unfortunately horrific 9/11

         20  took place and there are many names of people whom

         21  we know because we're here in the Council and we

         22  pass legislation and we know who they are, but there

         23  are, in my neighborhood alone, five or six, many

         24  more in other neighborhoods, and I've actually had

         25  people ask me who these individuals are.
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          2                 Obviously I'm able to tell them,

          3  actually a friend of mine is, on 77nd Street, with

          4  the signs. So, I'm certainly able to describe his

          5  history to anybody who asks, but I know that he is

          6  not a commonplace name.

          7                 So, the concept behind this

          8  particular intro is to have a historic record. It

          9  would obviously cost some funding, somewhere with

         10  all, some organization in terms of the information

         11  and keeping it current and talking to the

         12  stakeholders and people who are involved. But I

         13  think that's a very small price to pay in terms of

         14  our future.

         15                 So, I hope that's a good description,

         16  Madam Chair, and thank you for asking.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         18  much. And I think it's a very good description,

         19  because I know there are times that I see a street

         20  name change, and but for the fact that I know the

         21  people that know the person, and that's how I find

         22  out, there are many people that don't know. So,

         23  thank you very much.

         24                 And thank you, Ms. Horsch. Am I

         25  saying that correctly?
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          2                 MS. HORSCH: Horsch.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Horsch. -- For

          4  being patient. We'll now hear your testimony.

          5                 MS. HORSCH: Good afternoon,

          6  Chairwoman Foster and members of the Parks and

          7  Recreation Committee. My name is Andra Horsch, and I

          8  am Director of Intergovernmental Affairs at the New

          9  York City Department of Transportation.

         10                 Thank you for the opportunity to be

         11  here today to testify on Intro. 326, which would

         12  require the Department of Information, Technology

         13  and Telecommunications, to designate a City agency

         14  to make biographical information pertaining to all

         15  ceremonial street name changes available in the

         16  City's official website.

         17                 Let me begin by stating that DOT and

         18  the Administration wholeheartedly support the

         19  dissemination of useful information to the public.

         20                 In fact, DOT has made great strides

         21  with its website in recent years.

         22                 For example, the DOT website provides

         23  traffic advisories, a street construction database,

         24  traffic cameras, and electronic forms for reporting

         25  potholes and streetlight outages.

                                                            32

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 That said, however, we question why a

          3  bill would be introduced to require a City agency to

          4  post biographical information where not only either

          5  ceremonial renaming is strictly a Council

          6  initiative, but the information called for in the

          7  bill is already available in many cases to the

          8  public on the City Council's website.

          9                 Ceremonial street namings are

         10  sponsored by individual Council members who make

         11  informed decisions that a particular person or

         12  entity is important enough to commemorate by naming

         13  a street after them in a ceremonial fashion.

         14                 It is the Council members sponsoring

         15  a particular naming who has the background

         16  information called upon in the bill, having worked

         17  with the local community board and family of the

         18  honoree to sponsor it. The Administration,

         19  specifically DOT's role, in the ceremonial street

         20  naming process is limited to the final step, and

         21  that is solely to manufacture and install each sign

         22  after the bill is passed by the Council.

         23                 Secondly, we question why a bill

         24  would be introduced requiring the Administration to

         25  post biographical information when this information

                                                            33

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  is already often compiled and posted and acceptable

          3  to the public on the City Council's website.

          4  However, while it is posted, it is difficult for the

          5  public to find, since it is only included within

          6  Committee reports, not in the user-friendly manner.

          7                 One step the Council may consider

          8  immediately is providing easy-to-find links to the

          9  Committee reports that contain this information.

         10                 Having made these two points, it is

         11  more fitting for this task to fall under the

         12  Council's purview. DOT do, as stated earlier,

         13  support the dissemination of useful information to

         14  the public.

         15                 In this regard, we would be happy to

         16  work with the Council on making the background

         17  information on street naming, as required in the

         18  bill, available to the public, through the creation

         19  of a user-friendly database.

         20                 However, we ask that the bill be

         21  amended to clearly state that the Council will be

         22  responsible for supplying DOT with the content for

         23  each renaming since they, having worked with the

         24  local community board, the family of the honoree,

         25  have the historical content behind each renaming,
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          2  and have already fact-tracked and compiled the

          3  needed information.

          4                 DOT in turn would be able to make

          5  this information available on its website.

          6                 Thank you, again, for the opportunity

          7  to be here today. I'd be happy to answer any

          8  questions.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Let me start with

         10  Council Member Addabbo, and then we'll go to Council

         11  Member Brewer for questions.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Ms. Horsch, I

         13  thank you for your time and testimony today.

         14  According to your testimony, I think a major step is

         15  actually missing. When you say that the

         16  Administration has only the role of DOT, you're

         17  missing a step, and that's the actual Mayor's

         18  signature. The Mayor does sign these name changes.

         19  So, his involvement in these name changes is

         20  significant, because without his signature, it

         21  wouldn't be too official, would it?

         22                 So, I would just, you know, again,

         23  yes, we do the bulk of the work, we stop the ball

         24  rolling and so forth, but my opinion, I think the

         25  Mayor has a bigger role in this than it may seem in
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          2  your testimony.

          3                 MS. HORSCH: Could I comment on that?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Of course.

          5                 MS. HORSCH: We think this is a

          6  terrific idea. You know, our major, what we find

          7  problematic is that they're not initiated by us. We

          8  don't have any contact with the families. It's the

          9  Council members who work with the families, and the

         10  Council Member who believes that this person should

         11  be honored, have all the background information

         12  available. It would be very research intensive for

         13  us to kind of do work that's redundant. We think

         14  it's a great idea.

         15                 And the biographical information is

         16  already compiled by the Council. So, it's really

         17  just a matter of taking that information, making it

         18  available in an easy-to-search database and research

         19  format.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: In closing,

         21  respectfully I appreciate that point of view, but I

         22  think by working a little bit cooperatively between

         23  the Council and the Administration, I think we can

         24  do this.

         25                 Thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          3                 Council Member Brewer.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I appreciate

          5  your testimony and all your hard work on many

          6  different issues and all your history. I knew that

          7  this was what you were going to say, so that's why I

          8  sort of prefaced my remarks.

          9                 I do think logistically, logically,

         10  we can figure something out.

         11                 This is why I think it needs to have

         12  a relationship with nyc.gov. The public, although I

         13  would like the City Council's website to be as

         14  popular as nyc.gov, it never will be. And, so, I'm

         15  just thinking about the person walking down the

         16  street with their laptop in a wireless City, and --

         17  I'm being a little facetious here, but the fact of

         18  the matter is that the public person thinks about

         19  www.nyc.gov, and they don't think about whatever it

         20  is nyccouncil.info. And, so, I'm trying to have a

         21  system that is user friendly. And to Gino Menchini

         22  and Avi and DoITT's credit, that website is prize

         23  winning, and it is a place that the public goes.

         24                 So, the fact of the matter is, maybe

         25  we can work cooperatively, as Council Member Addabbo
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          2  said, linking, et cetera.

          3                 But I appreciate your testimony, and

          4  I think there's lots of work together that can be

          5  done.

          6                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Council Member

          8  Jackson.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

         10  Madam Chair. I think it's extremely important that

         11  we have the biographical information. Not only that,

         12  but I would like to see anywhere from, depending on

         13  the format, several pictures. So, I don't think that

         14  DOT would have any objections to several pictures of

         15  the individuals so someone can get a profile, more

         16  so than this written word, but --

         17                 MS. HORSCH: We would ask that the

         18  Council provide us with the content and get sign-off

         19  in the families, both on the content of what's

         20  included on the website, and as well as making any

         21  photographs.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I don't have

         23  any problem in you, meaning the agency, DOT, saying

         24  since the actions were initiated in the community,

         25  and not necessarily by the Council member. It may

                                                            38

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  have been initiated by the family to the Council or

          3  to a community board, that it come through our

          4  offices, I don't think I have any objection to that.

          5  I would love to do that in order to ensure that the

          6  memory of those individuals that we honor lives on

          7  and that people will be able to know who they are

          8  from now and forever.

          9                 MS. HORSCH: Yes. I think we're all in

         10  agreement that it's a terrific idea. It's just kind

         11  of maybe working together and figuring out.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So, you

         13  wouldn't have any objection to pictures also being

         14  included?

         15                 MS. HORSCH: I'm not a technical

         16  person, so I don't know exactly what would be

         17  involved in putting photos in --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay, what

         19  about video?

         20                 MS. HORSCH: -- But I can certainly

         21  look into it.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. I'm

         23  just seeing how far I can go, that's all. Thank you

         24  very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you for
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          2  seeing how far you can go, Council member.

          3                 Council Member Nelson.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Not related to

          5  this issue, so I can hold that thought if any other

          6  questions were coming?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay, it's

          8  related to what --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I just want to

         10  thank the Committee. I had to vote in the Land Use

         11  Committee, so I was across the street. I couldn't be

         12  here when a few of my friends were here discussing

         13  two street namings.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Oh, okay.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: One was for

         16  Luther Mook Way. As a matter of fact, there are two

         17  people from the community here now, Richard Kiu, and

         18  Debra Greif. And he was just a great man. He was not

         19  just a leader in the Chinese community and the Asian

         20  community at large, but the entire community. So, a

         21  lot of people in our area will appreciate that vote.

         22  And also there's an actual hero from Operation Iraqi

         23  Freedom that is here, Alex Presman, and I saw him

         24  coming and I saw him going, but not in the middle. I

         25  wanted to be here, and I think it's important to
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          2  have a street that honors those. As we speak, there

          3  might just very well be one of our guys or gals, our

          4  warriors out there getting wounded or even worse, so

          5  by this Committee's vote, I think the whole

          6  community thanks you for that. And thank you, Madam

          7  Chair.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 And I believe that we're all saying

         11  the same thing, and that the information needs to be

         12  there, and I don't think it's a question as to whose

         13  responsibility.  And more so, if we work together, I

         14  believe that we can come up and put it on a site and

         15  make sure the information is available and everybody

         16  can take ownership to it.

         17                 So, thank you very much. Any more

         18  questions from my colleagues?

         19                 I need to go back, because

         20  unfortunately we had people sign in who wanted to

         21  speak about name changes who didn't indicate the

         22  Intro. Number, so we didn't know that. So, I'm going

         23  to go back to hear from Debra Grief and Richard Kuo.

         24                 I'm going to limit you to two

         25  minutes.
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          2                 MR. KUO: Thank you very much. My name

          3  is Richard Kuo. I'm the Executive Director of Home

          4  Rest Community Services in Brooklyn, Community

          5  District 15.

          6                 I'd like to thank Mike Nelson,

          7  Councilman Nelson, and Community Board 15 for

          8  recommending the street naming of Luther Mook Way,

          9  East 14th and Avenue T in Brooklyn.

         10                 Luther Mook was born and raised in

         11  Brooklyn. His family was one of the first Chinese

         12  families in Brooklyn in the early 1920s, and he

         13  actually, in fact, graduated from Abraham Lincoln

         14  High School.

         15                 He helped many people and he was

         16  involved in a number of different civic and

         17  community organizations. He was founder and Chairman

         18  of the Home Cross Community Services, which is now

         19  one of the largest Asian American Senior Centers in

         20  Southern Brooklyn. It went from 200 members and it

         21  now has 3,000 members in both Sheepshead Bay and

         22  Bensonhurst, Brooklyn.

         23                 He was the Chairman of the Coney

         24  Island Hospital's Community Advisory Board, and he

         25  was the First Vice Chairman of the Health and
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          2  Hospital Corporation's Council of Community

          3  Organizations. He was First Vice President of the

          4  Greater Southern Brooklyn Health Coalition, which is

          5  a subsidiary, well, not a subsidiary, but was help

          6  formed by Jewish Community Relations Council of New

          7  York, and he was a member of the New York State

          8  Office for the Aging's Advisory Committee.

          9                 Finally, he was a very religious man,

         10  and he was an elder in the Brick Presbyterian

         11  Church.

         12                 I'd like to thank the Committee for

         13  approving his designation tonight.

         14                 MS. GREIF: Good afternoon. My name is

         15  Debra Greif. I'm a member of the Local Community

         16  Board 15, and we did all vote in favor of the names

         17  that were brought before you from 15. But I'm

         18  especially here for Luther Mook. I knew Mr. Mook for

         19  many years. He was friends with my family. My late

         20  mother and he had many times, would sit and discuss

         21  -- my mother was disabled and I was always --

         22  couldn't believe how kind and compassionate he was.

         23  He also was a very kind and compassionate man,

         24  because my younger son, Christopher Grief, has mild

         25  mental retardation and he never, ever treated my son
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          2  with any disrespect or discourtesy. He was kind and

          3  compassionate, and it didn't matter to him that we

          4  were of different nationalities. We were all

          5  American. He encouraged us both to all be advocates

          6  in our community. Whenever we needed him, we could

          7  count on him. The changes that he made in my

          8  community were vast and wonderful. So, to have a

          9  street named after him would please his sister

         10  Sarah, and it would also please my family,

         11  especially my younger, my son Christopher, who

         12  really looked up to this man.

         13                 And I would be very pleased and

         14  honored because I can count on him that he was my

         15  friend and we miss him desperately.

         16                 So, it would be a big honor to have

         17  this done, and it would help the members of our

         18  community know all the people that came to make the

         19  improvements in our community, and I am in favor of

         20  this and I thank the Council for doing this.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         22  much for taking the time to testify. Thank you.

         23                 We're moving right along, we're

         24  almost to 327.

         25                 Commissioner Henry Stern wants to
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          2  speak on 326. Commissioner Stern, I'm going to give

          3  you two minutes to speak on 326 and then we're going

          4  to move on.

          5                 MR. STERN: First, I think it's a good

          6  idea to circulate the information very widely. I

          7  think the website is a great way to do it. I use the

          8  website.

          9                 I think there might be a problem in

         10  the Council mandating particular information to be

         11  put on a website, which is under the jurisdiction of

         12  the Mayor, such as nyc.gov, in the event of

         13  potential controversy of an individual, and I would

         14  think that anything put on would have to be mutually

         15  agreed to by all parties, if it goes on the site.

         16                 But with that, it's a good idea. It

         17  also should be done for Madison Avenue, and the

         18  other streets of the City which the Council hasn't

         19  named, but which people ought to be able to find out

         20  readily who they're from. So, I would expand the

         21  project.

         22                 Now, the remaining minute, to talk

         23  about another thing which is relevant to this, I am

         24  the author of Local Law 73 82, which requires that

         25  when any building is demolished in the City of New
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          2  York, before you get a demolition permit, you have

          3  to take photographs of the building and make them

          4  available through the Department of Building, City

          5  Planning Commission and Landmarks.

          6                 I don't know to what extent they've

          7  been faithful and carried it out, but I'd like to

          8  suggest to the, now there's a new generation of

          9  Council Members, that you expand that bill to make

         10  all these pictures of demolished buildings available

         11  on the City website.

         12                 So, once they're gone, they don't

         13  have to be forgotten and you don't have to come down

         14  to City Hall and wade through Department files to

         15  know what the physical history of the City was like.

         16                 So, I simply pass that along to the

         17  next generation. Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         19  much, Commissioner.

         20                 We are going to get into now 327,

         21  concessions.

         22                 Our first panel is Joanne Imohiosen,

         23  and Commissioner Kavanagh.

         24                 Assistant Commissioner Imohiosen is,

         25  Assistant Commissioner for revenue with the
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          2  Department of Parks and Recreation, and Commissioner

          3  Kavanagh is First Deputy Commissioner. And thank you

          4  for being patient.

          5                 Thank you. You can begin.

          6                 COMMISSIONER KAVANAH: Okay. Good

          7  afternoon, Chairwoman Foster. And good afternoon to

          8  all the members of the Committee, as well.

          9                 I want to thank the Council for

         10  giving Parks this opportunity to discuss our Revenue

         11  and Concession Program.

         12                 Parks Concession provides services,

         13  amenities, and physical improvements to parks

         14  facilities for park-goers, and are an important

         15  source of revenue for the City, particularly during

         16  difficult fiscal times.

         17                 Over the last few years, our 600

         18  concessions have used on average more than $60

         19  million in revenue annually.

         20                 Realizing the importance of this

         21  revenue to both the City and the agency, we have

         22  worked hard to increase our revenue year-after-year.

         23                 Assistant Commissioner Imohiosen, who

         24  has joined me today, will discuss our concession

         25  program in greater detail, but first I would like
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          2  the opportunity to discuss Intro. 327.

          3                 Intro. 327 seeks to return the

          4  revenue generated by Parks concession to the agency.

          5  In an ideal world, we would welcome the ability to

          6  keep our concession revenue, but given the

          7  uncertainty of the City's fiscal health, it would be

          8  unwise to do so at this time.

          9                 The revenue raised by Parks and

         10  Recreation currently goes into the general fund, and

         11  not only helps to pay for parks, also pays for

         12  police officers, teachers and other essential

         13  services.

         14                 It is important that these funds

         15  remain at the Mayor's discretion, and especially

         16  until the City's fiscal situation improves.

         17                 It is also important to note that the

         18  revenue generated by parks would only account for

         19  about a quarter of the entire Parks budget on an

         20  annual basis, which means that we would still be

         21  subject to the normal appropriation cycle, through

         22  which the Mayor proposes a budget, and the Council

         23  approves a budget.

         24                 So, this would not provide I think

         25  the kind of relief that some people may think it
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          2  would give us.

          3                 It also poses the possibility that

          4  parks would be looked upon as a source of revenue,

          5  not only to fund our operations, but to fund

          6  specifically our operations, rather, and could

          7  potentially lead to pressure on us to

          8  over-commercialize activities in parks.

          9                 Right now we are restricted by the

         10  Charter to providing concessions that either support

         11  park and recreation purposes, and we take that

         12  responsibility very seriously.

         13                 In the current form, we also feel

         14  that Intro. 327 is overly restrictive. It is

         15  important that the Commissioner of the Parks

         16  Department have flexibility when allocating

         17  resources.

         18                 First, the proposed bill requires

         19  that one-third of concession funds be spent in the

         20  community district where it is generated, with the

         21  remaining two-thirds to be spent at the

         22  Commissioner's discretion.

         23                 This is not a need-based formula. In

         24  the vast majority of cases, a concession is not a

         25  burden to the community. It is providing a service
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          2  or an amenity to a park.

          3                 There is no reason to automatically

          4  direct a fixed amount of funding to every community

          5  with a park concession.

          6                 Second, many of our most profitable

          7  concessions are in flagship parks that are

          8  surrounded by wealthy neighborhoods or in central

          9  business districts. They enjoy considerable

         10  volunteer, corporate, philanthropic and donor

         11  supports.

         12                 For example, under this bill,

         13  one-third of the revenue generated from concessions

         14  in Union Square Park would have to be spent in

         15  Community Board 5. On average, Union Square

         16  Concessions raise close to $1 million annually in

         17  revenue. This bill would automatically direct

         18  one-third, or 330,000 each year to other parks in

         19  Community Board 5, which includes Bryant Park,

         20  Madison Square Park, Father Duffy Square and Herald

         21  and Greeley Squares. These parks already have

         22  friends, groups or Business Improvement Districts

         23  that contribute to the maintenance of the parks.

         24                 Funds generated from concessions in

         25  Union Square Park could be better spent on parks
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          2  which currently do not enjoy the same level of

          3  support.

          4                 Moreover, in many cases the parks

          5  that contain profitable concessions are not located

          6  within one specific community board. Central Park,

          7  Prospect Park and Flushing Meadows, Corona Park, are

          8  not assigned to one community board, and in fact are

          9  surrounded by multiple community boards.

         10                 The bill stipulates that one-third of

         11  the revenue from a concession not wholly contained

         12  within one community board, be divided among the

         13  community boards adjacent to the concession.

         14                 In the case of Central Park, we would

         15  be forced to split one-third of the concession

         16  revenue among six community boards. And here again

         17  you have a situation where four of the six community

         18  boards, community boards 5, 6, 7 and 8 have

         19  relatively little parkland in relation to the other

         20  community boards, 10 and 11, and in comparison to

         21  other boards around the City, they still have very

         22  limited amounts of parkland. And you know, it seems

         23  unfair to us to force the Park Commission to

         24  allocate such a large percentage of money to very

         25  specific small boards that may not have the same

                                                            51

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  needs as larger boards throughout the City.

          3                 We believe the Council's intention is

          4  to ensure stable funding for the entire park system.

          5  But the system established by Intro. 327 directs a

          6  significant amount of funding back to parks and

          7  communities that have a large amount of private

          8  investment, and actually limits our ability to

          9  direct money to the parks that require additional

         10  support.

         11                 Now Commissioner Imohiosen will go

         12  into some detail about our current concession and

         13  revenue program and the achievements Parks has made

         14  over the last few years.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         16  Chairwoman Foster, it's nice to see you again.

         17  Council members, my Council member.

         18                 Parks' mission is to keep all of our

         19  parks and playgrounds clean and safe and to provide

         20  recreational and athletic programming for all New

         21  Yorkers.

         22                 Another way in which we serve the

         23  park users is by providing a large range of services

         24  to more than 600 concessions, and we have everything

         25  from hot dog vendors to restaurants and marinas and
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          2  tennis bubbles.

          3                 In addition to providing a service,

          4  our concessions improve the atmosphere in parks,

          5  they bring positive economic activity to

          6  communities, and are an important source of revenue

          7  for the City.

          8                 Over the last few years, these

          9  concessions have exceeded more than 60 million to

         10  the City in revenue, and there's a chart here, which

         11  perhaps coincidentally represents the time I've been

         12  at Parks and when we started 26 years ago, we were

         13  bringing in two and a half million, and this year we

         14  brought in a bit over 63 million. So, we've been

         15  working very hard, not only to provide the services,

         16  but to increase the revenue.

         17                 We have approximately 600 concessions

         18  throughout the City, and they provide services to

         19  park users in two general categories: Food service,

         20  and sports and recreational activities.

         21                 Most of our food services, with the

         22  exception of pushcarts, are year-round operations,

         23  while many of our recreational concessions provide

         24  seasonal opportunities.

         25                 Year-round concessions range from
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          2  certain hot dog carts to restaurants like Tavern on

          3  the Green and Terrace in the Park and Flushing

          4  Meadow, the Lowe Boathouse in Central Park which has

          5  very recently undergone a $5 million renovation.

          6                 A number of our pushcarts and

          7  snackbars are open pending the weather, and two of

          8  the carts that are around year-round are pushcarts

          9  in front of the Metropolitan Museum, which

         10  collectively pay us over 500,000 a year for the two

         11  carts. That's a very unusual amount, but they're

         12  very profitable carts.

         13                 The majority of our seasonal

         14  concessions, in warm weather, are things like

         15  Orchard Beach, carosels, marinas, and the Cyclone

         16  Rollercoaster in Coney Island.

         17                 In the winter our seasonal

         18  concessions are ice-skating rinks, skating rinks,

         19  and also our golf driving ranges now have heated

         20  stalls so you could go there, and as you probably

         21  know, we have golfers who play year-round, and the

         22  golf courses are open, if you feel like going.

         23                 Also, we cover our tennis courts in

         24  certain areas with bubbles, and we provide tennis

         25  facilities for a fee in the winter on our regular
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          2  course.

          3                 We also administer the leases of the

          4  City's sports stadia, which is Yankee, Shea, the

          5  USTA National Tennis Center and KeySpan Park.

          6                 In addition to providing recreational

          7  activities and food, concessions can change parks

          8  facilities by attracting users to otherwise unused

          9  areas.

         10                 One of the best examples of this is

         11  the 79th Street boat basin cafe, where before 1997

         12  that whole area was, nobody was there, it was run

         13  down, all sorts of elicit behavior was encouraged by

         14  just vacancy. Now it's a very popular neighborhood

         15  attraction, and we're happy to say after rebidding

         16  it, that it now pays the City a quarter of a million

         17  dollars a year.

         18                 So, it's really transformed a very

         19  poorly used space into something very positive.

         20                 Our concessions also help local

         21  communities by bringing activity and jobs into the

         22  area. And our current contracts -- they also provide

         23  a lot of capital improvement at no cost to the

         24  taxpayer. Our current concession contracts have

         25  currently and will be bringing in over 134 million
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          2  in capital renovation and new facilities.

          3                 For example, in the last decade,

          4  concessionaires at the City's golf courses completed

          5  approximately $10 million in capital improvements to

          6  the facilities.

          7                 During the next 20 years we expect

          8  another 35 million be completed, and that most of it

          9  will be done in the next five years, most of that 35

         10  million.

         11                 For example, the Pellham Splitrock

         12  Golf Course, which was recently readvertised as a

         13  concession, the concessionaire will be spending $7

         14  million on the clubhouse and the courts. The Dyker

         15  Beach Golf Course in Brooklyn, close to 7 million

         16  will be spent on renovating a club house and

         17  upgrading the golf course.

         18                 It's not only golf courses that are

         19  getting capital improvements, a 2.5 million new

         20  restaurant is currently under construction in Staten

         21  Island on the Boardwalk in South Beach that will be

         22  open in March of '05, and I know this because

         23  they've already booked parties.

         24                 Our restaurant right here down in

         25  Battery Park was readvertised and the current

                                                            56

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  concessionaire is required to spend 1.6 million in

          3  renovating it. They already spent about half of

          4  that, and if you go down there, it looks very, very

          5  nice.

          6                 In Queens, an $8 million renovation

          7  at Terrace on the Park is nearing its completion.

          8                 Substantial improvements have been

          9  made also at our tennis facilities. In Brooklyn at

         10  parade grounds they started already on a 2.4 million

         11  renovation of the courts and new club house, and

         12  there have been substantial influxes of capital in

         13  Malally Park and Central Park Tennis Center. In

         14  almost all cases the concessionaires have exceeded

         15  the minimal capital investment that the licenses

         16  require. And, again, this is all at no cost to the

         17  taxpayers, these are licenses, not leasenses

         18  (phonetic) -- not leases, so all the money goes

         19  directly to the City. There is nothing that they --

         20  all the fixtures stay with us.

         21                 When I joined the Parks Department in

         22  1979, the revenue was a little under 2.8 million. It

         23  is now 63 million. We've succeeded in raising our

         24  revenue by working aggressively, and trying to meet

         25  the unmet needs of our park patrons. We intend to
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          2  continue pursuing new concession opportunities.

          3                 We're particularly excited about a

          4  number of concessions that are now in development.

          5                 As I mentioned earlier, the South

          6  Beach restaurant will come on line in March of '05.

          7  This season you will also see a new holiday market

          8  at Columbus Circle between December 6 and Christmas.

          9  This is, we've been running a holiday market at

         10  Union Square very successfully, and for the one

         11  month the Union Square Market pays us over $500,000.

         12  For this year we're starting where the Columbus

         13  Circle market is going to pay us $230,000, but I

         14  think, frankly, it's going to do very, very well,

         15  and we'll see as time goes on.

         16                 In the next few months we will issue

         17  requests for proposals for food service at the Allen

         18  Street Mall, an outdoor cafe at Riverside South,

         19  indoor tennis at Dyker Beach Park and a restaurant

         20  and marina at Dryer Offerman Park. These are all new

         21  concessions.

         22                 We expect also that the seven golf

         23  courses, which we recently advertised and awarded

         24  again, would bring us considerably more revenue.

         25                 For example, these seven courses
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          2  generated 2.4 million in revenue in 2003, and by

          3  2004, they were generating $4 million in revenue a

          4  year. This is an increase of 65 percent. Over the

          5  20-year license term of these newly advertised

          6  courses, we expect them to generate 136 million in

          7  revenue to the City.

          8                 In conclusion, whether it is

          9  providing a clean park, food services or

         10  recreational opportunities, Parks revenue sources

         11  are a way to improve our parks mostly, and the park

         12  experience for our patrons, and that's how we tried

         13  to run our division.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 We'll be happy to take any questions.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. We've

         17  been joined by Council Member Gerson. Commissioner,

         18  I'm going to ask you to tell me how to say your last

         19  name correctly.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         21  Imohiosen.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Imohiosen?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         24  Correct.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay.
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          2                 I'm going to start in with questions

          3  and if Commissioner Kavanaugh, whoever wants to jump

          4  in and answer, please do.

          5                 First, the 63 million that you

          6  mentioned in revenue, was that for concessions or

          7  for the lease agreements, or combined.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

          9  Most of it is combined. About 50 million of that is

         10  from concessions and then there's a certain part

         11  from the stadia leases, which varies, depending on

         12  how the teams do. The mets didn't pay us much at all

         13  because really we got more from the Yankees, because

         14  they did well.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay, let me -- I

         16  was going to go on a certain list of questions, but

         17  since you mentioned Yankee Stadium, let me just get

         18  into the heart of it.

         19                 You mentioned that our concessions

         20  also help local communities by bringing positive

         21  economic activity and jobs to an area. Brings me

         22  right to my community, Yankee Stadium and Malolly

         23  Tennis.

         24                 Malolly Tennis, I know for a fact, I

         25  have tons of wealthy friends in Westchester that
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          2  that's where they play tennis. We've been trying to

          3  get the concessionaire to make repairs. Yankee

          4  Stadium, as we know, is there, but really does not

          5  have any community development.

          6                 So, I heard Commissioner say in these

          7  parks that generate the money, if we're putting

          8  money back into those communities, some of them are

          9  wealthier, and I think those are isolated incidents.

         10  If you look at the Yankee Stadium area, Yankee

         11  Stadium and Malolly. If my community got one

         12  percent, we'd be doing better than we are.

         13                 So, my question is, do you not see a

         14  need for the wealth in terms of these concession

         15  profits or revenues coming in to be spread around,

         16  because as I read or heard you read through the

         17  statement, the parks and the restaurants, none of

         18  them are really in communities that are struggling,

         19  so it's doing a great job for an area that's already

         20  doing great.

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         22  Well, these are business opportunities to some

         23  extent, and then obviously the people who take these

         24  opportunities are looking to make money, and there

         25  are limited places where they can make money. It's

                                                            61

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  the same reason why, you know, you don't have

          3  businesses that exist in Manhattan, in my

          4  neighborhood in Brooklyn or in other neighborhoods

          5  throughout the City.

          6                 So, obviously the business community

          7  is going where they think they could make good

          8  profits.

          9                 I think in some ways, you know, the

         10  essence, as far as I see, is how do we fund Parks

         11  and Recreation Services in the City? And right now

         12  we have a system where the Mayor proposes a budget

         13  and the Council approves that budget, and it's done

         14  in context of everything else that's happening in

         15  the City and all the other operating needs of the

         16  City.

         17                 And I think the elected officials

         18  have an opportunity to decide what is the

         19  appropriate level of funding for the Parks

         20  Department, without having to depend, you know, in

         21  some cases geographical accidents where a stadium

         22  was cited 80 years ago to provide revenue for a

         23  specific group of parks. I think that that is the --

         24  I think that's the bigger question, and I think it

         25  is more appropriately decided through the process
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          2  that we already have, that is the existing budget

          3  process.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Do you think that

          5  our current means of funding and parks that are

          6  funded or that are doing well, that we have in this

          7  City two cities in terms of parks, parks that are

          8  thriving and doing well in communities that are

          9  thriving and doing well, and those other parks that

         10  are in less economic boom communities, or do you

         11  think parks across the board are pretty even-handed?

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: I

         13  think parks across the board have improved

         14  dramatically over the last ten years. And I think

         15  some of it is due to the fact that private

         16  individuals and businesses have invested in specific

         17  parks. It has allowed the parks Department to

         18  distribute resources in a way that more equitably

         19  addresses needs throughout the City.

         20                 It has also helped raised standards

         21  across the City. If you look at the example of

         22  Central Park, and Central Park has unequestionably

         23  benefitted from an unprecedented amount of

         24  philanthropy, but the standard that you see in

         25  Central Park is something that park-goers,
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          2  park-users throughout the City want to see in their

          3  neighborhoods as well. It has caused them to

          4  organize. We have created as a result of that one of

          5  the greatest partnerships organizations in the

          6  country, not the world, and it has led, I think, to

          7  improvements in parks all over the City.

          8                 So, you know, it is hard to criticize

          9  somebody for contributing to their park. And, yes,

         10  it does give the appearance that some parks are

         11  doing better than others, but I think overall it has

         12  led to our -- it has contributed to, I don't want to

         13  say led, but it has contributed to improve park

         14  conditions throughout the system.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I don't know that

         16  I necessarily agree with you, and I'll tell you why.

         17  I think that, of course, people take an interest in

         18  their parks and want to see growth in their parks.

         19                 I know in a community I represent, my

         20  park does not look like Central Park, and I don't

         21  have the residents that surround the park that those

         22  that live around Central Park do, and I think that a

         23  person's perception is their reality, and there is a

         24  perception that there are two cities in terms of

         25  parks in New York City.
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          2                 That having been said, let me ask, so

          3  you don't see a need for any of the revenue that the

          4  Parks brings in through concessions to be dedicated

          5  back to Parks. No portion of it, everything you

          6  think can go through the general funds, and be

          7  administered through this funding process, that the

          8  Council and the Mayor goes through?

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         10  The City relies on lots of revenue streams to

         11  support all of its operations, and I think it would

         12  be wrong to restrict both the Mayor and the Council

         13  from using those revenue streams as necessary on an

         14  annual basis.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: So, no portion do

         16  you think can or should be restricted?

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         18  No, I don't.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Now, for example,

         20  you know, something that comes to my head when we

         21  talk about the budget and funding is every year the

         22  Mayor cuts tree pruning, and every year the Council

         23  puts it back in. It's kind of the song and dance we

         24  go through. That to me is an example of the budget

         25  process not working, because the Mayor cuts it
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          2  knowing that it needs to be done, and thankfully we

          3  have Council members from Queens, as well as the

          4  rest of the City that understand the importance of

          5  that, and that it has to be restored.

          6                 So, if a portion of concessions went

          7  back into the parks for the maintenance and

          8  operation not taking away from what should be

          9  funded, you still don't see that need. You think if

         10  it's not broke, don't fix it, even though it may be

         11  broke?

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         13  It's just that I don't think this is the right

         14  mechanism. Again, even if we kept all of our revenue

         15  within the Parks Department, it would only fund a

         16  quarter of what our current budget is, and we would

         17  still be subject to the annual appropriations

         18  process that occurs every year, and I don't know

         19  that you would have a different outcome each spring.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Do you have a

         21  right mechanism in mind? And I'm not trying to put

         22  you on the spot, but you said you don't think it's

         23  the right mechanism, so I was wondering if you had

         24  one in mind.

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:
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          2  Well, short of revising the City Charter, I don't

          3  think that I could suggest something right here and

          4  now that would materially change the way Parks or

          5  any other agency is funded.

          6                 We have a process right now. It may

          7  not be the best or the only process that we could

          8  use, but it is the Charter-mandated process. I don't

          9  think I could suggest another one sitting here on

         10  the spot.

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: Let

         12  me also add that the main thrust of our concessions

         13  is to provide recreational services. We can't, for

         14  instance, we're not mainly focused on revenue

         15  generated. If we were to do that, we can't build a

         16  hotel in the middle of Central Park, or in Malolly

         17  Park. The main thrust is the service, not the

         18  revenue. So, it would probably change the way parks,

         19  you'd have to change the whole way parks looked and

         20  so on. You know, you could concession out every inch

         21  of some of the more popular parks, but it wouldn't

         22  be good for the park users.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: How many active

         24  concession agreements do we have currently?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:
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          2  Approximately 600. It varies. A good part of those

          3  are pushcarts, they come and they go. They change.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And that 600 does

          5  not include lease properties, or does it include

          6  lease --

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: The

          8  leased properties, well, there are four of them.

          9  They're the stadia.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay.

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         12  It's just that those, we consider them separately,

         13  because those are leases and everything else are

         14  license agreements.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: What's the

         16  difference between a concession agreement and a

         17  lease agreement?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: A

         19  lease agreement needs an act of the State

         20  Legislature. You're actually, it's a state in the

         21  land, in the property. Concession is terminable at

         22  will, and all the property, the concessionaire has

         23  the right to use parkland, in the lease they have

         24  many more rights than in the concession agreement.

         25  The Commissioner has far more power in a concession
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          2  agreement than in the lease.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: How much revenue

          4  does the Department of Parks expect to generate from

          5  concession, versus how much it actually gets?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

          7  Well, it's pretty much the same. We have a very good

          8  collection procedure. We meet every month. We go

          9  through receivables, and we virtually don't have any

         10  arrears, so we have accountants and we know exactly

         11  what our concessions are supposed to bring in.

         12                 We usually get somewhat more on the

         13  bigger concessions that pay us a percentage of

         14  gross, but we can fairly closely predict what the

         15  revenues will be, if we have a very good year, let's

         16  say a golf course, they pay us now almost 20 percent

         17  of gross, we'll get more than we expected, but we

         18  know more what our minimum fees are, and we can more

         19  or less predict within a pretty close range what

         20  we're getting during the year.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I have a few more

         22  questions, but I'm going to defer to Council Member

         23  Addabbo.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Commissioner,

         25  both Commissioners, I appreciate your time and
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          2  testimony today, for being here, and I appreciate

          3  your insight and your issues with the current

          4  language of proposed Intros 227, but conceptually,

          5  the idea of Parks keeping their concessions, you at

          6  least embrace the idea that somewhere down the road,

          7  maybe even the City gets to be in a better financial

          8  situation, do you at least embrace the idea of

          9  possibly someday Parks keeping, if not all, some of

         10  their concessions?

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         12  As I said earlier in my testimony, in an ideal

         13  situation, yes, there is some logic to it. But under

         14  the system that we have now, which for all of its

         15  faults it's still a fair system. The public has a

         16  right to comment on the Mayor's proposed budget, the

         17  Council has the authority to vote to approve it, and

         18  I think that that is the system that we need to work

         19  within right now.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Just a point

         21  of information. Sixty million dollars annually from

         22  park concessions?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: So,

         24  this last year it's concessions in all sources of

         25  leases.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Right, you're

          3  talking about revenue --

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

          5  Sixty-three million.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Sixty-three

          7  million.

          8                 If we were to add 63 million to the

          9  current Fiscal Year '04 allocation of 164 million,

         10  we're talking about roughly $227 million, which is

         11  still below the allocations that were done in the

         12  nineties for parks, okay, for the budget allocation,

         13  still below that figure, okay? But still more than

         14  what you would have gotten, okay?

         15                 So, that's our goal, I guess, is

         16  getting as much money into parks, increasing the

         17  amount of money into parks. And, again, in times of

         18  bad financial times or fiscal situations for the

         19  City, the best thing we can do is plan for when we

         20  do get better financially and have a plan.

         21                 So, again, I would hope that you're

         22  on the same page at least trying the plan for more

         23  revenue for the parks.

         24                 Yankee and Shea Stadium has an

         25  example; how much money do they still owe the City?
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          2  And are those numbers that they owe counted in your

          3  revenue that you count as, again, 60 or so million

          4  dollars?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: The

          6  revenue is what we bring in, money received.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay, so

          8  that's the broad number that you bring in.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: And

         10  there was an audit from the Mets that was settled

         11  and they paid it.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: And

         14  there was an outstanding audit from the Yankees --

         15  you know, they're arguing back and forth on it. In

         16  terms of their rent, they paid it. The teams pay

         17  every March 10th, and believe me, we go after them.

         18  So, whatever the actual rent is due gets paid in

         19  March. Audits get argued back and forth for years,

         20  so we don't consider that a past due, it has to be

         21  settled.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Commissioner,

         23  I'm still trying to get over the statement you made

         24  about the Mets not doing so well, so we're going to

         25  move on.

                                                            72

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 But, again, using only Yankee and

          3  Shea as a way of an example, how much money is still

          4  owed the City or Parks? Is there accounts receivable

          5  out there that's not being paid, or everything is

          6  being collected?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

          8  There is an outstanding audit from the Yankees, but

          9  that is not settled. In terms of owed, zero.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay, not

         11  just Yankees? I'm talking about every concession out

         12  there, you're saying nothing is owed --

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: Our

         14  arrears are less than a half of one percent, and we

         15  have a very aggressive collection policy, and right

         16  now there is probably outstanding a few thousand

         17  dollars. It's negligible. We do not allow

         18  concessions to owe us money.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: If that's the

         20  case, I commend the Department. That's great to have

         21  low accounts receivable.

         22                 The last question: Do you believe a

         23  variation of this bill, possibly, if not all

         24  concessions being kept within the Department, do you

         25  think that a percentage of the concessions, again,
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          2  not 100 percent, but maybe a percent of it would be

          3  better off, or better suited for the Administration

          4  to approve?

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: I

          6  don't think it materially changes the position that

          7  I outlined before, that both the Mayor and the

          8  Council need the most discretion possible in

          9  deciding where the City's revenues go.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Again, not

         11  discretion. I'm not talking about discretion. Just,

         12  again, the idea of conceptually trying to augment

         13  the budget for Parks, if not total concession is

         14  going to Parks or being retained by Parks, but even

         15  a percentage of that, do you think that's agreeable?

         16  Or possibly agreeable some time in the future? Not

         17  mentioning discretion, just saying the raw number,

         18  the percentage of the revenues being kept by Parks?

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         20  But in essence, you are making a decision to

         21  increase the Parks' budget. Not that I'm going to

         22  argue if anybody were to do that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay. I don't

         24  think it's a bad thing.

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:
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          2  But that authority already exists, without having to

          3  pass legislation to designate a certain portion or

          4  the entire amount of revenue to come to the Parks

          5  Department.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay, thank

          7  you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          9  Council Member Brewer.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you. We

         11  just have to get OMB to agree though. I just wanted

         12  to throw that out.

         13                 I have just a simple question. This

         14  is my ignorance. I know what a concession is, how

         15  does one private enterprise become part of a lease

         16  agreement instead of a concession? And this is just

         17  my ignorance.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: It

         19  would only have been the stadia. I happened to have

         20  been around when the USTA started as a concession,

         21  and it gets a Home Rule Message and then it has to

         22  go to, for approval to the State Legislature. It's

         23  considered an alienation --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Alienation,

         25  okay.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: --

          3  Of the land. And park land can't be alienated

          4  without such an approval.

          5                 So, it's only the stadia that have

          6  these leases.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, it's only

          8  where there's an alienation?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         10  Yes. We do not encourage doing that for regular

         11  businesses.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Yes, that's

         13  what I thought. That's what we should have done in

         14  Van Cortlandt.

         15                 Okay, another topic. The question, my

         16  question is, again ignorance: The federal government

         17  and State parks, are all of those, to the best of

         18  your knowledge, operate in the same system as you

         19  do, where any concession money goes directly to the

         20  general revenue, and not to the agency? I don't

         21  know. I was just wondering what the state-of-the-art

         22  is so-to-speak.

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: I

         24  know the national park system has a program where

         25  some revenue stays in the park where it's generated,
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          2  and I think another portion goes to adjoining parks

          3  within the same region.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

          6  They get very low fees from their concessions. I

          7  don't know if they're changing that, but

          8  historically people who have dealt with them are

          9  shocked when they deal with us.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         11                 And then the other question I have

         12  is, how do you go about deciding when there will be

         13  more concessions?

         14                 Obviously Riverside South would be an

         15  example where it makes sense, et cetera. But how do

         16  you go about deciding where there will be new

         17  revenue sources so-to-speak?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: We

         19  do it in several ways. We sort of go around the

         20  City, we talk to our borough commissioners, and ask

         21  them if there's a need for a certain kind of service

         22  somewhere. Sometimes it happens that we catch

         23  illegal vendors in terms of the pushcarts, and

         24  obviously if there is an illegal vendor there, it's

         25  an area that is profitable, so we'll add that to our
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          2  Citywide bid when we bid the pushcarts. Sometimes

          3  people bring us ideas, but we're very, very careful

          4  in screening them to not over-clutter, and also it

          5  must be a recreation or a food service, in order to

          6  be a parks concession.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. Thank

          8  you very much, Madam Chair.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         10                 Council Member Gerson.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         12  much, Madam Chair.

         13                 Good afternoon. Just a few particular

         14  questions, or questions on particular facets of what

         15  we discussed.

         16                 We've had in Washington Square Park

         17  recently an event known as New York is Book Country,

         18  wherein a part of the park was turned over to a

         19  non-governmental entity. I believe it was actually a

         20  not-for-profit organization, which was working with

         21  commercial sponsors, and in exchange for being able

         22  to utilize, I think it was roughly one-third of the

         23  park, they paid Parks Department a fee. I believe it

         24  was for this one day, or the part of the one day of

         25  $20,000. But my question to you is, those type of --
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          2  and the price was negotiated between City Parks and

          3  the sponsor of the event. Are you, the revenue from

          4  temporary, in effect temporary leasing of Parks

          5  property, is that considered a concession? Is that

          6  kept in a separate fund? And does the money from

          7  that go into general revenue, or is that retained by

          8  Parks?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: We

         10  have many special events, and fairly recently I

         11  believe the City went through a CAPA procedure, and

         12  there are certain amounts that are already set for

         13  what they charge at different types of special

         14  events. I don't deal with it directly, but the money

         15  is included in this amount that we've been

         16  reporting.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: They're lumped

         18  with concessions?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         20  With Parks revenues, yes. It's a separate code but

         21  it goes to the general fund.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: When you say

         23  that you have this process for special events, is

         24  there a standard rate that's charged?

         25                 I thought that, for instance, my
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          2  understanding was this was, in the case of

          3  Washington Square Park it was a negotiated figure

          4  that was reached between the Parks and the sponsor?

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          6  In the special events procedure that Commissioner

          7  Imohiosen referred to, there is a matrix which

          8  guides what the fee will be for any type of event in

          9  different types of parks. Parks that are the most

         10  popular, the most likely to attract events, are kept

         11  in one category. The fee is based on the duration of

         12  the event, not the parks space that is used for the

         13  event, things of that nature. So, there is some

         14  flexibility within the framework of the matrix to

         15  determine what the final fee is, but you're pretty

         16  much prescripted by that matrix, as to what the

         17  ultimate fee will be.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Madam Chair,

         19  with your permission, I would like to request a copy

         20  of this matrix.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: I

         22  don't know which rule, but it is --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I'm sure it is

         24  --

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:
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          2  It is a public document.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Oh, I'm sure

          4  it is. When was it last promulgated.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: A

          6  year? The past year, I think.

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          8  Over the last year or so revised.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Is there any

         10  policy limiting the number of such special events

         11  over the course of the year in Parks?

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         13  There is no formal written policy. We do try to make

         14  sure that no park, one park is over-burdened with

         15  events that become a nuisance to the surrounding

         16  community. And I know we have made a special effort

         17  in Washington Square Park to limit amplified sound

         18  events, and other events that can be disruptive to

         19  the people that live around the parks.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But beyond,

         21  and I'll conclude this part on this note, because

         22  it's slightly, we're getting into an issue beyond

         23  the focus of this hearing, but on this note that

         24  beyond the nuisance there is concerns for excessive

         25  commercialization of parks that parkland be viewed
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          2  as sources of revenue in this way, and to detracting

          3  from the use of the park for its purposes.

          4                 I think the whole issue of the policy

          5  for leasing neighborhood parks for special events

          6  might be something that we might want to look into.

          7  But at the starting point, I'd like to get a copy of

          8  that.

          9                 Just then moving on very quickly, you

         10  mentioned, and, see, I do pay attention, an RFP for

         11  a new concession on the Allen Street Mall.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         13  Yes. Actually, somebody brought that to our

         14  attention. There is an abandoned comfort station --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Yes.

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: --

         17  In some building, and somebody said that they loved

         18  to put a cafe in it, and we discussed it with the

         19  Borough Commissioner, and it seemed like a good use

         20  and we're going to put out, if we haven't already,

         21  an RFP. If you don't have it, then we haven't put it

         22  out yet. An RFP for some kind of a cafe there, and

         23  have them renovate the building.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, it

         25  sounds like I need to have a conversation with the
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          2  Borough Commissioner. There is a process underway, a

          3  community-based process, to redesign the entire

          4  stretch of mall from Houston Street to the River,

          5  and I would hate to jump the gun with one particular

          6  concession and one part of this before we have a

          7  master plan.

          8                 So, I'd like to request this, I mean

          9  I'll follow-up by requesting the status of it. But I

         10  would hope you would not, you know, just do this RFP

         11  in the absence of a settled master plan.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: No.

         13  We're aware of that. It would go to the Community

         14  Board also to look at the RFP before it was ever

         15  issued.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And finally,

         17  going back to the legislation and the question by my

         18  colleagues, Chair Foster and Council Members Addabbo

         19  and Brewer, I share a general preference again,

         20  designated funds, whether it's Parks or Housing or

         21  anything else, for many of the budgetary reasons you

         22  cited. But I think the exception is when there is an

         23  unmet need that continually fall -- a recognized

         24  unmet need which continually falls through the

         25  cracks of the normal budgetary process, and that
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          2  there is a nexus between that need and

          3  revenue-generating. And where we identify

          4  revenue-generating activity, such as concessions and

          5  parks, and where we identify that unmet need and the

          6  nexus, I think is reasonable to explore the

          7  establishment of a designated fund to compensate for

          8  what is a recognized shortcoming, and the Allen

          9  Street Mall might be a classic example because that

         10  has fallen to such disrepair, it's totally neglected

         11  year after year after year after year, and to put --

         12  I'm using this as an example, where a designated

         13  fund can serve a legitimate policy purpose. If

         14  you're talking about creating revenue generating, to

         15  not use that fund to keep up malls which have fallen

         16  into disrepair would seem to me to be bad public

         17  policy.

         18                 So, my question is, could you

         19  consider targeted designated funds for unmet park

         20  needs, with revenue coming from concessions?

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         22  Again, I think it sort of underminds the existing

         23  process to designate, particularly small amounts of

         24  money for very specific instances, like the Allen

         25  Mall that you cite.
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          2                 In this case, the malls are in such

          3  shape that they clearly need capital dollars to

          4  renovate them. But after that, I don't know that you

          5  could rely on a cafe. I have no idea what kind of

          6  money would be generated from a cafe. But I don't

          7  know if that would be sufficient to maintain the

          8  malls, both in day-to-day maintenance and long-term

          9  capital repair over an extended period of time. I

         10  don't think -- I just can't imagine that it would.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you,

         12  Madam Chair.

         13                 I would just point out this need to

         14  considerably flush out the details. I don't mean to

         15  rely just on one cafe, but in general concessions,

         16  for unmet park needs to be considered.

         17                 Thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 I know that Allison and Mora are

         21  staying afterwards, I want to move on to our other

         22  panels, which I know are going to have, and I hope I

         23  didn't put you on the spot, you guys were planning

         24  this day anyway, I know I'm going to have questions

         25  after the fact that I will then put in writing.
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          2                 I just want, before I move on I want

          3  to ask a question. I appreciate how timely you are

          4  in terms of collecting money owed, and it's less

          5  than one percent, how are you in terms of the

          6  necessary repairs, and I'll go to Malolly Tennis. I

          7  know there were some repairs that needed to be made

          8  that I don't know, that have not been made yet. So,

          9  are we as on point in terms of collecting money, as

         10  we are to holding concessionaires responsible for

         11  making necessary repairs?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: We

         13  also review that monthly. And as far as I know,

         14  Malolly is in repair. They recently put another

         15  hundred thousand dollars in renovating some new

         16  courts, and we send our inspector up there. They

         17  certainly have completed the requirements of their

         18  capital in their contract. If there's something

         19  specific that hasn't been done, we'll address it.

         20  But when you said that, I was rather surprised

         21  because we get complimented on those courts all the

         22  time, and I've been up there personally and our

         23  concessions go there and the place is not only in

         24  good repair, but the last year they did another

         25  hundred and hundred and fifty thousand dollars of
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          2  work.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Well, I'll

          4  follow-up --

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

          6  We'll go take another look and see if we missed

          7  something, but we have an architect who reviews the

          8  capital repairs that have to be made, and then our

          9  inspectors go up periodically to all these

         10  concessions, and we, all our project managers go,

         11  and the capital work has to be done by certain

         12  times, and we write them letters if it isn't done

         13  and so on and so forth. So we keep after them.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Well, I will

         15  definitely follow-up. I want to thank you. I believe

         16  with our panels coming up, that this is the first of

         17  discussions that we can come up with something that

         18  might be a win/win for everyone that doesn't take

         19  away what the Administration and you have expressed

         20  can be left up to the Council and Mayor, but that

         21  can begin to bring us up to funding levels that we

         22  saw in the nineties with Parks. Because I firmly

         23  believe that a community will thrive based upon a

         24  thriving park, and you can't ask people to invest in

         25  their neighborhood, if we're not willing to invest
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          2  in the parks, so thank you very much.

          3                 The next panel is going to be

          4  Commissioner Henry Stern.

          5                 MR. STERN: Thank you very much, Madam

          6  Chairman, for giving me the opportunity to speak.

          7                 First, I want to thank you for what

          8  you've done for Parks, and through you, thank your

          9  father for what he did for Parks during the many

         10  years he served on the City Council, as Chair of the

         11  Parks Committee. No one from the Bronx was more

         12  interested in Parks than my colleague, Council

         13  Member Wendell Foster, and many of the time we

         14  toured Nelson Park and other parks together in an

         15  effort to improve conditions.

         16                 Let me say first that the people, you

         17  know there's an expression in the Wizard of Oz, they

         18  say "pay no attention to the man behind the

         19  curtain." In this case the man behind the curtain is

         20  the Budget Director, and all these poor parkees are

         21  compelled by the positions they hold to echo his

         22  words.

         23                 They don't believe a word of it, and

         24  I know that because we've been doing this together

         25  for 20 years. And I testify very nicely to my
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          2  friend, Deputy Commissioner Kavanagh, who is a real

          3  trooper.  He wouldn't take water from you if you

          4  were dying of thirst, because they won't let him.

          5  Okay, enough of that.

          6                 Now, on the merits. I've been working

          7  on this project for many, many years, and today is a

          8  milestone, because it's the first time it's been

          9  heard by a Council Committee. Although similar bills

         10  have been introduced, they never reach the hearing

         11  stage, and I count on you after appropriate

         12  consideration to take it to beyond that.

         13                 Parks is an agency -- when I was

         14  first appointed by Commissioner of Parks by Mayor

         15  Koch in April 1983, Parks received 73/100ths of 1

         16  percent of the budget, and I adopted as a slogan,

         17  had buttons made to say "1 percent by the

         18  millennium." At that time the millennium was 17

         19  years away. It would seem like a reasonable goal

         20  over that period of time.

         21                 Well, it turned out that at the

         22  millennium it was a decline, and now it's in the

         23  40s, 40/hundredths of 1 percent of the City budget

         24  goes to Parks.

         25                 That means of every $10 in the City

                                                            89

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  budget, Parks gets four cents, which to me is a

          3  gross under-appropriation.

          4                 Parks is screwed in the budget for

          5  seven reasons. One, it's not considered an essential

          6  service, like Police and Fire.

          7                 Two, it's not a uniformed service.

          8                 Three, there are no labor contracts

          9  mandating staffing levels at Parks, the way they are

         10  in other agencies.

         11                 Four, there are no court decisions

         12  which mandate improvements for Parks, as there are

         13  in schools and homeless and other aspects of the

         14  City budget.

         15                 Five, there are no laws. There are no

         16  federal, state or City laws mandating any level of

         17  expenditure.

         18                 Six, the nature of Parks is that its

         19  services are not modular. For example, if you cut

         20  the Transit budget by ten percent, you have to have

         21  ten percent fewer trains, and everyone will notice

         22  it. There will be a longer wait. There will be a

         23  direct impact.

         24                 If you cut the Parks budget by ten

         25  percent, well maybe the grass grows taller before
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          2  it's cut. So you have grass at four inches, instead

          3  of two inches. People don't immediately feel that

          4  impact on the level of service. And maybe it could

          5  be cut ten percent, but you can't cut it ten percent

          6  year after year without really injuring the services

          7  the agency provides, and that's what's been done.

          8                 All those are governmental reasons

          9  why Parks is traditionally the last, and why its

         10  percentage of the City budget is now just about half

         11  of what it was 20 years ago.

         12                 That's pathetic.

         13                 Now, as far as what you call here

         14  allocation of revenues, which is really what this is

         15  about, should money raised in Parks go to parks.

         16  First, it's widely -- it's not unheard of. The

         17  National Park Service has an arrangement to do it,

         18  even the State, the Republican State Administration,

         19  Governor Pataki and Parks Commissioner Bernadette

         20  Castro, has passed a system of creating a parks fund

         21  out of parks concessions revenue. The City of

         22  Chicago does it. It's becoming a widespread

         23  practice.

         24                 So, to say that New York should lag

         25  behind all of these things is ridiculous.
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          2                 Another thing I'll point out is that

          3  these things aren't even believed. Some of the

          4  testimony given wasn't correct, but I can tell you

          5  about that in private. I don't want to give away

          6  anything, and I don't want to injure Parks in any

          7  way, but there are ways to beat those rules. They

          8  know how to. Adrian is a very able Commissioner. The

          9  whole Parks, they're really good guys and they're

         10  working hard. They shouldn't be put in this

         11  position. But that's why I can speak freely.

         12                 Now, the way to do it, in my

         13  judgment, is to allocate all the concessions revenue

         14  to Parks, and you don't have to worry about that.

         15  You're not going to give them an extra 63 million,

         16  because you have all the appropriating power. So, if

         17  you give Parks $63 million through appropriations,

         18  you'll simply deduct $63 million from their annual

         19  expense budget, and you're free to spend that money

         20  any way you like. And for Parks it will be a wash,

         21  because Parks doesn't want any new money the first

         22  year. But then, as the Capital -- as the Expense

         23  Budget grows, Parks would receive the growth through

         24  the concessions revenues.

         25                 We had such an agreement made with
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          2  Mayor Giuliani. We came back in 1995, that we had a

          3  line there, we know it, and for everything that went

          4  over there, we would get the revenue. And at one

          5  point we were three- or four-million dollars ahead

          6  on our projections, and we were counting on getting

          7  that as revenue. But then OMB said there's a fiscal

          8  crisis. We were going to cut you by $10 million, but

          9  because you've raised all this revenue, we'll only

         10  cut you by $6 million. And through telling us that,

         11  the whole idea of the revenues going to Parks was

         12  thwarted and it became clear you couldn't rely on

         13  anything that did not have the force of the law.

         14                 Now, if you were to do this, you

         15  would provide Parks with enormous incentives to

         16  increase revenue, you would make communities more

         17  receptive to having revenue-producing facilities,

         18  because they know the money would go to the benefit

         19  of their parks, and Parks would have discretionary

         20  funds so that when there are specific projects, like

         21  Malolly Park, if it's needed, Parks would have the

         22  money to do it, because now every single capital

         23  project is specifically allocated, and the line item

         24  from the Council, sometimes Council members can't

         25  get their projects in because there isn't enough or
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          2  the quota has been reached. If Parks had this, Parks

          3  would have the funds available which we could use.

          4                 To conclude, because you've been kind

          5  enough to take me, this would be an enormous

          6  improvement for Parks. It wouldn't cost the City

          7  anything on a short-term basis, and it would in

          8  effect make money for the City over the longrun

          9  because you would have more park facilities and

         10  better concessions.

         11                 Now, it's also done in the federal

         12  government. You have the highway trust fund. You

         13  have money that comes from the gasoline tanks, is

         14  allocated to that. You have the allocation of funds

         15  in New York State government, money from the New

         16  York State Lottery is supposed to go to education.

         17  The idea of an allocated revenue stream is not new

         18  at all. It's widely done. Its principal opposition,

         19  as has always been, from OMB, which doesn't want to

         20  let a penny out of its control, and it's time for

         21  elected officials, like yourselves, to take

         22  leadership in this area and in a sense release Parks

         23  from the straightjacket to which it's been bound for

         24  many years and go forward.

         25                 I have to admit out of candor that
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          2  when I was Commissioner under Mayor Koch and Mayor

          3  Giuliani, they wouldn't do it either. So, I'm not

          4  saying, I was no more successful. I was a bit more

          5  because I got the increments in money in getting it

          6  for Parks, but this is a new Administration, this is

          7  a new City Council, this is an empowered group of

          8  people who are proud and seem to have no problem in

          9  passing legislation if they want to, and by doing

         10  this, you could make an enormous contribution to the

         11  betterment of parks to the communities of the City.

         12  I hope you decide to do it.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         14                 Questions? Alan.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: As you can

         16  see, I am one of the sponsors of this legislation,

         17  but I just wanted to play, to flush out the best

         18  possible bill, devil's advocate, with just two

         19  questions.

         20                 First, if we pass such legislation,

         21  you mentioned it would encourage new concessions and

         22  facilities, is there a danger in that, though? Are

         23  we, and do we need to put any restrictions to

         24  compensate for that danger? In other words, will OMB

         25  or the Administration or the Parks Department itself
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          2  have an incentive to over-use parks for additional

          3  concessions, and maybe the Parks Department itself

          4  is the more serious concern, since they'd be getting

          5  the money, to over-use parks for more concessions

          6  than we would want to see in order to keep parks for

          7  park-type uses; is that a concern from this type of

          8  bill?

          9                 MR. STERN: It's a good question. I

         10  think that Parks might even be more vigilant to

         11  avoid inappropriate concessions.

         12                 There is a procedure now, ULURP, and

         13  there are rules on the major concessions in which

         14  they have to go through a process and gain community

         15  approval. I don't think Parks would be over-eager

         16  because they have to get communities. But I think

         17  there are communities which would be much more

         18  receptive to a concession.

         19                 For example, there are some parks,

         20  I'm not talking about Manhattan, because it's very

         21  tight there in space. You're not going to put a new

         22  building in Washington Square Park or anything like

         23  that. You can't even fix up a hut in Union Square

         24  Park, the local whackos --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: For the
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          2  record, that's not my district.

          3                 MR. STERN: Right. That's good.

          4  Fortunately, I'm not running for office anymore. But

          5  the answer is that, no, Parks wouldn't do that, but

          6  communities might want it, because if communities

          7  thought that by putting a cafe in the corner of a

          8  Queens park which has 328 acres in it, and there are

          9  very large parks there, parts of which are paid

         10  services, unused, uninhabited, not used for

         11  recreational purposes, if they thought that that

         12  money would go to the improvement in their park,

         13  they would do it.

         14                 Furthermore, we've already done this.

         15  We've already given the central, in an agreement

         16  signed with Mayor Giuliani, the Central Park

         17  Conservancy receives a portion of the income that's

         18  derived from Central Park over a certain amount, and

         19  we negotiated this with the Conservancy. If they

         20  raise a certain amount of money in gift, they share

         21  in the concessions revenue.

         22                 Now, why should Central Park, which

         23  is the richest park in the City of New York, be the

         24  only park which is allowed to share in concession

         25  revenue. Shouldn't the other parks have the same
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          2  opportunity to benefit from those concessions? This

          3  is really a very public effort on our part.

          4                 And also, there are so many

          5  combinations of financing now, Madison Square Park

          6  is done partly with City funds and partly with a $5

          7  million private sector contribution. City funds are

          8  given and sometimes contingent on private

          9  contributions. Park financing in the last ten years,

         10  since I became Commissioner again, and through

         11  Commissioner Benepe, is much more complex than the

         12  testimony would have you believe. There are all

         13  kinds of arrangements which are made through which

         14  these revenues --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Commissioner, I'm

         16  going to have to cut you off.

         17                 Alan, can you go to your next

         18  question, because we have two other panels waiting.

         19                 MR. STERN: I'm sorry. You were nice

         20  to have me.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I was going to

         22  say, in deference to the Commissioner's thoroughness

         23  in his response, I will conclude at this point.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 MR. STERN: I would be glad to work

          4  with the Chair or the Council or any members of the

          5  Committee privately to supplement my testimony,

          6  because this is an issue which is very close to our

          7  hearts.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         10                 The next panel is from the National

         11  Park Service. James Pepper and David Luchsinger. Did

         12  I say that correctly? How close was I? How should I

         13  have said it?

         14                 MR. LUCHSINGER: Lou-singer.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Lou-singer.

         16                 MR. PEPPER: Madam Chairwoman, members

         17  of the City Council, friends of Parks, I do need to

         18  note from Councilman Jackson's comment about the

         19  African Burial Ground, that in the opinion of the

         20  National Park Service, there is no more significant

         21  historic site in the United States than the African

         22  Burial Ground here in New York City.

         23                 For both of you, commendations.

         24                 I am Jim Pepper. I am the Assistant

         25  Regional Director of the National Park Service. I am
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          2  accompanied by my colleague Dave Luchsinger, who is

          3  the Acting Superintendent of all the national parks

          4  in Manhattan, and until recently he was the Deputy

          5  Superintendent of the Statue of Liberty, Ellis

          6  Island National Monument, and has had extensive

          7  experience at the field level in operating

          8  concessions within the National Park Service.

          9                 I have submitted longer statements

         10  for the record, and I'd like to revise and shorten

         11  my comments to speak here before you today.

         12                 Madam Chairwoman, of course the

         13  National Park Service provides no official comment

         14  today, or opinion on the legislation before the

         15  Committee. Our purpose and comment is only on the

         16  experience of the National Park Service with the

         17  management of the concessions within National Parks.

         18                 We are providing, for the record, a

         19  copy of our legislation that manages concessions,

         20  and I have also for you a copy of last year's annual

         21  report on the management of concessions within the

         22  National Park Service.

         23                 We'd like to emphasize a few items

         24  that may be of use to the Committee, and we'd be

         25  happy to follow up in writing any specifics that the
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          2  Committee has on these matters.

          3                 Congress has authorized several

          4  revenue-generating programs, United States Congress,

          5  to provide some or all of the revenues directly to

          6  the parks for revenues derived.

          7                 Now, there is broad support for the

          8  national parks among the members of the United

          9  States Congress, as you find there is here among

         10  City Council members. But members have noted, that

         11  the revenue streams to parks, often because of the

         12  pressure that we heard earlier from Commissioner

         13  Stern, are often neglected.

         14                 On a year-by-year basis you may defer

         15  some expenditure, and then you find that as the time

         16  has passed, these expenditures have accumulated, and

         17  then suddenly you're facing very large budgets that

         18  oftentimes you in fact can't actually afford in the

         19  year that you are seeking the revenue.

         20                 And because of this broad support of

         21  the national parks, the members of Congress

         22  determined that there would be several areas where

         23  revenue streams should be identified, and one of

         24  these were the concessions.

         25                 Now, there is no statutory
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          2  prohibition in federal law that would require the

          3  United States to continue to fund parks at the

          4  levels they previously received.

          5                 However, there is a general

          6  knowledge, I would say, that exists both within the

          7  members of Congress, as well as within the advocates

          8  for parks, and scrupulously pursued by the advocates

          9  for parks, that the revenue levels that the Congress

         10  provides the appropriations should not fall, and I'd

         11  say for the most part they do not. And in fact, Park

         12  revenues have generally gone up.

         13                 To avoid the issue of

         14  over-commercialization, which has been mentioned,

         15  park managers for concessions are only authorized to

         16  enter into concessions contracts when the concession

         17  and the services and facilities are first determined

         18  to be necessary and appropriate.

         19                 In other words, the service must be

         20  necessary and desirable part of the park experience

         21  for the visiting public through the concessions

         22  contract, and this, we believe, has an inhibiting

         23  effect of over-commercialization of the issues

         24  within the national parks.

         25                 We have 584 concessions contracts. As
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          2  was mentioned earlier by the Deputy Commissioner,

          3  it's true that the national parks historically had

          4  received very low revenues. As a result, in response

          5  to that the United States Congress in 1998 passed a

          6  new law, so that there could be much higher levels

          7  of revenue available to the national parks.

          8                 The concessions are gradually phasing

          9  in. They're not exactly grandfathered, but as their

         10  contracts expire, we then apply the new law and we

         11  expect a much higher level of revenue from that law

         12  than we're currently receiving.

         13                 But I would say, it's interesting,

         14  the same dilemma that was mentioned earlier, that

         15  more than, of those 52 largest concession contracts,

         16  those generating more than $3 million in annual

         17  gross revenues, generate more than 80 percent of the

         18  total concessioner gross revenues in the national

         19  park system.

         20                 So, the same sort of situation we

         21  described today, where you see a few wealthy parks

         22  and then many others that are not, is in fact a

         23  characteristic of the National Park Service, too,

         24  and our way of addressing that is a funding split in

         25  which 80 percent of the revenues are available that
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          2  are derived, are available for the parks where

          3  they're generated, and 20 percent in terms

          4  distributed to the other parks.

          5                 We distribute revenues based on

          6  competition. They are distributed entirely within

          7  the management of the Park Service, and I'd like to

          8  say it's a professional distribution process. We

          9  have criteria that determine how those revenues are

         10  distributed. And, so, I would say, though, that if

         11  there is a concern that this formula of 80/20 or any

         12  of our other revenue streams that we receive is

         13  concerned, that eventually you're going to have the

         14  rich getting richer and the poor will get poorer,

         15  you can tweak that number.

         16                 So, the fact that you might have

         17  80/20 would seem to be appropriate for us right now

         18  in the National Park Service, it may be later that

         19  we change that, and we are thinking about doing that

         20  in the case of activity fees and other revenue

         21  generation items that we've got.

         22                 Among the priorities that we use to

         23  determine how to distribute those funds, are in

         24  addition to the management of the program itself.

         25                 We have deferred maintenance,
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          2  retrofits on accessibility, structural fire, energy

          3  efficiency, projects that enhance or maintain the

          4  capability of the concessioner to provide the

          5  necessary commercial visitor services, environmental

          6  and energy efficiency projects, and projects

          7  generally that enhance the visitor service, so that

          8  we can have high priority and high quality programs.

          9                 I've included at the end of my

         10  testimony a list of examples in New York City where

         11  specific national parks in New York have benefitted

         12  from this program.

         13                 That concludes my testimony. Thank

         14  you, Madam Chairwoman.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Do you have a

         16  testimony?

         17                 MR. LUCHSINGER: No, I don't.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: It was combined

         19  together?

         20                 MR. LUCHSINGER: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: That was great.

         22  Thank you.

         23                 Council Member Jackson.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You mentioned

         25  at the end a couple of national parks in New York
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          2  City had benefitted from it, but you didn't specify

          3  which ones.

          4                 MR. PEPPER: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'm just

          6  curious.

          7                 MR. PEPPER: Just let me give a few

          8  here for you. We just identified 365,000 for Jacob

          9  Reiss Park.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Where is that

         11  located?

         12                 MR. PEPPER: That's in the Rockaways.

         13                 We have Fort Wadsworth at Staten

         14  Island, 194,000 being provided to renovate, furnish

         15  and develop interpretive exhibits for the Officers

         16  Row there, where we can bring in visitors so they

         17  can enjoy that.

         18                 We're seeking, also at Reiss Park

         19  we're seeking to refurbish a dock. In Statue of

         20  Liberty we have 1.5 million spent to stabilize the

         21  baggage and dormitory building on the north side of

         22  Ellis Island which is significant to the immigrants

         23  coming to the United States.

         24                 We have 608,000 to replace the roof

         25  of the main building at Ellis Island. We have
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          2  450,000 to rehab our ferry terminal building and

          3  remove the asbestos therein.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: All of this

          5  is through the concession --

          6                 MR. PEPPER: All of this through our

          7  concession management program, yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: This is in

          9  addition to the monies that are allocated by

         10  Congress?

         11                 MR. PEPPER: That's true.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: It seems as

         13  though some of these projects, just normal projects,

         14  should be done just by normal funds allocated to

         15  Congress; is that correct?

         16                 MR. PEPPER: Well, you know, that's

         17  the very issue that you are facing and we face.

         18  Under a logical and rational system, all the funding

         19  that all the programs need and that the public wants

         20  would be funded. And the budget process of course

         21  would be rationally distributed, according to the

         22  very highest priorities among all the different

         23  parties.

         24                 We do have regular capital

         25  appropriations of the National Park Service to cover
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          2  exactly the kind of programs you're describing.

          3                 These dollars, and, in fact, over the

          4  last several years -- David, correct me if I'm wrong

          5  -- I think we've, the Congress has doubled our

          6  appropriations for construction in the last four

          7  years.

          8                 However, it is not enough. We have a

          9  backlog in the national parks of over 8 billion, I

         10  believe for maintenance and for construction

         11  programs, and so we'll take the money where we can

         12  get it.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Eight

         14  billion.

         15                 MR. PEPPER: Eight billion.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: That's

         17  nationally speaking?

         18                 MR. PEPPER: That's nationally.

         19                 MR. LUCHSINGER: Nationally.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: For

         21  maintenance?

         22                 MR. PEPPER: For maintenance and

         23  construction projects.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. I'm

         25  sorry, let me not get into politics right now.
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          2                 Okay, thank you very much.

          3                 MR. PEPPER: We don't have politics at

          4  the federal level.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          7                 Council Member Gerson.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you.

          9                 Just, first of all, going to your

         10  introductory statement, as the Council member

         11  representing the district which includes the African

         12  Burial Ground, I just want to make the point that we

         13  are all very supportive, staunchly supportive and

         14  concerned about that, and we thank you for your

         15  attention to that.

         16                 MR. PEPPER: And I want to recognize

         17  that we really welcomed your comments at the

         18  one-year anniversary of the reinterrment ceremony

         19  where we saw you hold up the sign for the African

         20  Burial Ground Way. We were very impressed.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That was a

         22  wonderful ceremony.

         23                 Just is it your testimony that once

         24  the Congress allowed concession money, or as the

         25  Congress allowed concession money to be generated
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          2  from within national parks, to be kept by national

          3  parks, there was some sort of a general

          4  understanding that the Congress would not take that

          5  additional revenue as a basis for reducing its, the

          6  contribution it would otherwise have allotted to

          7  national parks?

          8                 MR. PEPPER: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, we would

         10  probably need to do something along those lines as

         11  well for it to be beneficial.

         12                 MR. PEPPER: Just a note on that

         13  parallel point. When we recently were looking at

         14  fees for activities, sort of like an entrance fee to

         15  national parks, it was a big subject of a discussion

         16  of the Congress at that point that they could rob

         17  Peter to pay Paul, and I think that the emphasis

         18  given by the Congress to that possibility inhibited

         19  the likelihood that it would occur. But there was

         20  nothing in the statute that would prevent loss of

         21  revenues as a result of the availability of funds.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I also

         23  appreciate your recitation of that necessary and

         24  appropriate language. I think that's something we

         25  should probably look into. That's all, Madam Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          3                 Council Member Addabbo.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

          5  Madam Chair.

          6                 I want to thank the National Service

          7  for being here today. Two of the items that you had

          8  mentioned are in my district. The work at Reiss Park

          9  and the work near the ferry that was done, and also

         10  the Jamaica Bay, the Wildlife Refuge is also right

         11  there across Bay Boulevard. So, I want to thank you

         12  and commend you for the work that you've done in my

         13  district. And we're showing that a dedicated revenue

         14  for Parks can work. There is a formula out there

         15  that can work, and you've proven that. So, again, I

         16  want to thank you very much for your efforts in my

         17  district. Thank you.

         18                 MR. PEPPER: Thank you, Councilman.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. I just

         20  want to conclude by thanking you for coming. Because

         21  I think, in reading through it briefly, and skimming

         22  as you were going through, there is some language in

         23  here that would be very helpful as we -- this is a

         24  work in progress, and we want to get, hopefully,

         25  everybody involved and on-board, and like you
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          2  mentioned, Alan, the wording for necessary and

          3  appropriate, and then making sure that whatever is

          4  dedicated to Parks doesn't then get taken out at the

          5  other end. Because I think, especially with the

          6  Parks Department, what you see is the robbing Peter

          7  to pay Paul mentality, and our parks are suffering.

          8                 So, thank you very much for waiting

          9  and taking the time to testify.

         10                 MR. PEPPER: Madam Chair, we are

         11  available, as I said, for any comments.

         12                 I want to say that the National Park

         13  System is inspired by the New York City parks, and

         14  we are thrilled to work with people like the New

         15  Yorkers for Parks and this Committee in any way in

         16  the future.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 Our next panel will consist of Joseph

         20  Puleo, DC 37; Christian DiPalermo -- I'm sorry that

         21  I'm messing everything up. I have such a bad cold my

         22  head is blowing up. And Allison Farina, New Yorkers

         23  for Parks.

         24                 While everyone is getting settled,

         25  we're going to take a vote for Council Member
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          2  Gerson.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Intro. 4071-A, Council

          4  Member Gerson.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Aye.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: The vote now stands at

          7  nine in the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

          8  abstentions. Thank you.

          9                 Thank you. You can begin.

         10                 MR. PULEO: Am I on? Sorry. My name is

         11  Joseph Puleo. I'm Vice President of DC 37, Local

         12  983. And once again, thank you for having me here to

         13  speak on this resolution.

         14                 Of course, we're in favor of this

         15  intro. Each year we see the Parks Department budget

         16  decline, and I think the New Yorkers for Parks did a

         17  wonderful job in putting together this Intro., and I

         18  think it offers the most logical solution, at least

         19  partial solution, to the Parks, you know, the Parks

         20  budget system. And I'd just also like to thank Henry

         21  Stern, you know, for coming here and voicing his

         22  opinion. I think he's probably given the best

         23  testimony here today than I've ever heard him, you

         24  know, give. And as well as the National Park Service

         25  for coming here, and actually laying out their
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          2  system and how successful it is.

          3                 Again, on behalf of my members, we

          4  see a tremendous decline, even from my group, which

          5  is from the Urban Park Rangers. When I first started

          6  we had, excuse me, over 400. We're down to less than

          7  I believe 200 presently, and the bulk of the

          8  officers are here and the authorities are here,

          9  Battery Park City Authority, and they're here, and

         10  the Hudson River Authority, which is, you know,

         11  privately funded, you know? So, basically there's

         12  only 70 PEP officers Citywide, and we could use this

         13  money into restoring the safety of the City, as well

         14  as maintaining it with our park maintenance workers.

         15                 And once again, thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you for

         17  taking the time to come down here.

         18                 Christian.

         19                 MR. DiPALERMO: Good afternoon. Almost

         20  good evening. My name is Christian DiPalermo. I'm

         21  the Executive Director of New Yorkers for Parks,

         22  Citywide parks advocacy organization that promotes

         23  and protects park land throughout our City.

         24                 For the interest of time, I'm going

         25  to submit my testimony and just summarize some key

                                                            114

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  points. I don't want to repeat a lot of what's

          3  already been said.

          4                 I want to thank Councilwoman,

          5  Chairwoman Foster, for having this hearing, and for

          6  introducing the bill. And I'd like to thank this

          7  Parks Committee for all you're doing to increase

          8  funding to Parks, which is everyone's common goal

          9  here.

         10                 As you see, in our testimony we give

         11  you the nice, what I call handy-dandy chart, like a

         12  diagram trying to show you. I refer you to the

         13  second or third page, Parks revenue, Fiscal Year

         14  2003. You can see the pie chart and you can see the

         15  concessions picks up a lot of the revenue that comes

         16  to the City. It's an easy way of looking at it. We

         17  try to make this as easy as possible.

         18                 Many years have been spent

         19  documenting the decline in parks services throughout

         20  our City. It has resulted in some parks blossoming,

         21  growing, doing great like Central Park, Union

         22  Square, and many others throughout Van Cortlandt

         23  Park. But others, who that have to rely solely on

         24  public funds, are not doing so well. And, so, we're

         25  left with a system a two-tiered system and we need
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          2  to invest.

          3                 And, so, when we look at our options,

          4  the options are pretty clear. The first option is

          5  increase the annual appropriations. The second

          6  option is to direct a revenue source. That revenue

          7  source can be concessions, or it can be a tax. We're

          8  here to advocate for dedicating a revenue source

          9  coming from concession.

         10                 And like good legislators, you're

         11  asking the question is this new? It's not new. It's

         12  being done, not only the national parks, as you

         13  heard today, not only at the State level, but it's

         14  also being done here in New York City. Hudson River

         15  Park will survive on its concessions. Brooklyn

         16  Bridge Park will survive on its concessions. This

         17  City Parks Department itself eliminates the gap by

         18  using its concessions. Deputy Commissioner Kavanagh

         19  testified to that earlier.

         20                 We're already doing it to fill the

         21  gaps. Now it's time to actually improve the problem,

         22  use this money to improve the problem -- improve the

         23  conditions, not the problem.

         24                 I would say that it is pretty clear

         25  that there is precedent. We do have some concerns
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          2  with the bills, and I'm going to turn it over to

          3  Allison Farina from New Yorkers for Parks to outline

          4  for you some checks and balances that we think

          5  should be put into legislation, put into what we're

          6  trying to do in the future.

          7                 MS. FARINA: Thank you, Christian.

          8                 My name is Allison Farina, with New

          9  Yorkers for Parks. To be successful, we believe that

         10  any concession legislation, be it what's in front of

         11  you today, is Intro. 327, or any revisions thereof,

         12  must include the following checks; that, one, new

         13  revenue streams must not simply displace existing

         14  funds, dedicated revenues must augment and not

         15  substitute the public funding, which is, I believe,

         16  on a five-year average we have there as $165

         17  million.

         18                 2) Parks' revenue must be dedicated

         19  towards park maintenance. As it is, the DPRs or the

         20  Parks Department's Expense Budget truly needs this

         21  incoming aid.

         22                 3) Checks, as have been mentioned

         23  several times today, must be placed to safeguard

         24  parks against possible over-commercialization, as

         25  well as to ensure appropriate public input on local
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          2  concession initiatives.

          3                 And, finally, the agency must be

          4  given the ability to allocate revenue to parks based

          5  on need.

          6                 The parks that host concessions and

          7  generate revenue are not always the parks that are

          8  in the most need, as Deputy Commissioner Kavanagh

          9  did testify to earlier.

         10                 The current legislation addresses

         11  this need by allowing the Commissioner to use that

         12  remaining two-thirds of the funds generated on

         13  in-need parks.

         14                 So, in conclusion, Parks revenue

         15  reform is an important component of any effort to

         16  elevate the standards of our City neighborhood

         17  parks, and we, New Yorkers for Parks, urges the

         18  Council to pass Intro. 327, allowing the DPR Parks

         19  Department to retain revenues generated on park land

         20  to in effect allow the Department to keep what they

         21  already earned.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 Let me just ask a few questions. How
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          2  real do you think the concern of

          3  over-commercialization is with the parks?

          4                 And I know we've had this discussion.

          5  It might not be me seeing it, but I hear the term

          6  and I don't know how real it is.

          7                 MR. DiPALERMO: The perception is out

          8  there, so it's real. There's a lot of people in our

          9  coalition that are concerned that give the Parks

         10  Department this power, and they're going to sell our

         11  parks away to commercial interests. That is a real

         12  concern. No legislation should be passed, we would

         13  never support it, that doesn't do its best to

         14  prevent that.

         15                 That said, do I see, you know,

         16  American Express wanting to rename parks in the

         17  outer boroughs? Probably not. The park they're going

         18  to want is Central Park. And there's a nice

         19  constituency watching over Central Park that, you

         20  know, works to prevent such an act from happening,

         21  and they should be applauded for it, because as the

         22  Commissioner said, they have set a higher standard

         23  for all of us and we appreciate that.

         24                 I think that we have to make sure

         25  it's a necessary concession.
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          2                 I go down and talk to constituents in

          3  Chinatown, Sara D. Roosevelt. Some of them, and I

          4  don't know all, I'll leave the expertise to you,

          5  Council Member Gerson, but some would like to run

          6  their own concessions in their parks and see a

          7  benefit for their park, and that this legislation

          8  would allow them to keep some of that in the park on

          9  top of that would only benefit.

         10                 Further, I think that some people

         11  have even talked about under the same park putting a

         12  parking lot. I'm not saying that's the right idea.

         13  But I lived in a neighborhood and had a park there

         14  and underneath was a parking lot and we all agreed

         15  that that was a great idea, knowing that that

         16  parking lot was going to pay for that park means

         17  something.

         18                 And as a dealer, the community should

         19  have the freedom to make-- they do it out in

         20  Chicago, beautiful park, Millennium Park, is being

         21  paid for primarily through a parking lot underneath.

         22  Boston Commons is another example.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: The reason I say

         24  that is, again, you are a product of your

         25  environment and your experience, so therefore,
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          2  coming from my community, my parks, there is not

          3  commercialization, period. And I look at Yankee

          4  Stadium and Malolly, two concessions that are very

          5  close that just happen to be in my community, as

          6  opposed to really having anything to do with the

          7  community.

          8                 But I wonder how much people are

          9  talking about commercialization or

         10  over-commercialization, as a means to not have the

         11  discussion about this dedicated revenue stream. And

         12  kind of, you know, throwing it off the table saying,

         13  but over-commercialization. And I think that with

         14  any legislation, if we can ensure that we have

         15  thought of all possibilities and put the necessary

         16  checks in place. Like we mentioned having this

         17  dedicated stream but not on the other end cutting

         18  out so that you're not increasing, you're just

         19  trying to maintain, because then we feel on the

         20  other end we can cut the money.

         21                 So, that's the reason I ask about

         22  that.

         23                 MR. DiPALMERO: Well, just quickly,

         24  along those lines of cutting it out on the other

         25  end, New Yorkers For Parks does an independent
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          2  assessment of neighborhood parks, Report Card on

          3  Parks, every year. The goal is to, you know, a

          4  third, half of those parks is going C or lower.

          5  Everyone around this table in your Council district

          6  have parks that unfortunately are getting C's, D's

          7  and F's, and that's unacceptable in New York. And I

          8  have an exception. Council Member Brewer does not,

          9  so I apologize for that.

         10                 That said, we should be all striving

         11  for A's. Central Park has raised the standard, let's

         12  join the club, raise the standard. And I think that

         13  we're going to keep going and doing the Report Card.

         14  There's a park inspection program itself, nationally

         15  known, and if it decreases, well, then we haven't

         16  done our job. I think our job is to -- this should

         17  augment I think your needs, like we talked about

         18  with the pruning, you know, led by Queens every year

         19  we gotta put that back in. Why are we putting that

         20  back in from dedicated revenue?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And I think that,

         22  you know, when you talk about the exception in

         23  Council Member Brewer's district with this Report

         24  Card, goes to what I was trying to say to the

         25  Commissioner, that there are clearly two tiers, in
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          2  terms of parks, and I would love to be able to have

          3  great report cards, like Gale does with her parks,

          4  and it's the example that what type of message are

          5  we sending, I use it all the time with the water

          6  fountain in Central Park for the dogs, and I know

          7  that it's privately sponsored, but kids in my

          8  district have fountains that don't work. They are

          9  being told that dogs are more important than they

         10  are. And that is a serious, serious concern. And I

         11  know the Commissioner will say, well, you know,

         12  because the private funds go into Central Park we

         13  have more money to put somewhere else, and I'm not

         14  questioning that. What I am questioning is that,

         15  there has to be a better way in how we do this so we

         16  don't have two tiers.

         17                 But Council Member Addabbo has a

         18  question, and then Council Member Brewer.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         20  Madam Chair.

         21                 I want to thank the panel for being

         22  here today and for their testimony.

         23                 First, Joe, I want to commend the

         24  work of the Park Officers, again, for the work that

         25  they do, with what they have to work with, again, to
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          2  ensure the safety of our park areas. And, again,

          3  hopefully with this piece of legislation, we may be

          4  able to hire more and create jobs, as well as

          5  increase the safety of our parks. So, Joe, I want to

          6  commend you for the work that you do.

          7                 MR. PULEO: Thank you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: As far as New

          9  Yorkers for Parks, you were known as another name

         10  before New Yorkers for Parks?

         11                 MS. FARINA: Parks Council.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Parks

         13  Council, exactly. And didn't you, during, I guess

         14  the election, the 2000 election, didn't you have a

         15  campaign, One Percent for Parks, that you asked

         16  people to sign onto, if they got elected they would

         17  sign on and say that, yes, they would dedicate one

         18  percent of the budget to Parks?

         19                 MR. DiPALERMO: Yes. It was called

         20  "The Parks 2001 Campaign." The pledge was work til

         21  one percent of the budget going to parks.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Right.

         23                 And, again, I understand that those

         24  are different times, really, again, before 9/11 and

         25  before the fiscal crisis hit the City. Again,
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          2  conceptually, just again, like I mentioned to

          3  Commissioner Kavanagh earlier, just conceptually the

          4  idea of dedicating revenue from the budget to Parks,

          5  you had a lot of signatures on that campaign, didn't

          6  you?

          7                 MR. DiPALERMO: Ninety-five percent of

          8  the current City Council.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Not only the

         10  City Council, but you got a couple candidates for

         11  Mayor sign on, didn't you?

         12                 MR. DiPALERMO: All of them.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: All.

         14  Including --

         15                 MR. DiPALERMO: Including Mayor

         16  Bloomberg.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: He signed

         18  onto that one percent, didn't he? It's interesting.

         19  Again, just the idea of conceptually that this might

         20  be acceptable to the Administration.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 MS. FARINA: Thank you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:

         24  Congratulations to DC 37 on all the work that you

         25  do, including dealing with the dog owners. You do it
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          2  tactfully, and I congratulate you. I know it's not

          3  easy.

          4                 Christian, I have a question. First

          5  of all, I know that you had a lot to do with the

          6  conception of this, so I appreciate that. And how do

          7  you, how can we find other examples, in other words,

          8  do you have the Chicago model, not just millennium,

          9  but other aspects? And obviously, the federal

         10  government, the state government, Henry mentioned,

         11  are there other examples that we could bring not to

         12  the Parks Department but to the Office of Management

         13  and Budget, which is our challenge is? It's not the

         14  Parks Department, so that we could be more specific.

         15                 I think an MOU is something that is

         16  quite common. Every time the federal government

         17  gives us money, any programs, they make it clear

         18  that they don't want the City to cut. That's a very

         19  common way in which government operates with an MOU

         20  and it certainly happens in education and other

         21  fields. So, that could be an example on how to

         22  handle, given whatever floor or ceiling we want to

         23  use.

         24                 And then I heard the gentleman from

         25  the federal government, Parks Department, indicate
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          2  that they have not had an oversaturation problem.

          3  Obviously, the federal government parks are slightly

          4  different than what we do in the City, different

          5  kinds of uses and so on. But it does seem to me that

          6  there may be other cities that have looked at this

          7  saturation issue, and dealt with it appropriately.

          8  So, I was just wondering in your national research,

          9  if you have found how to deal with the saturation

         10  issue. Because I think that the MOU can deal with

         11  any kind of a cutback. The only question is, who

         12  monitors? And I would suggest, I think I know that

         13  Robert has had experience, and when I worked in the

         14  federal government, I had the same experience, you

         15  have to really monitor the MOU. Any MOU has to be

         16  very carefully monitored.

         17                 So, I guess I have a couple of

         18  questions. One is, what are some examples in other

         19  places, in terms of saturation, and how do you think

         20  the monitoring could take place in terms of the MOU.

         21                 MR. DiPALERMO: Well, regarding

         22  examples, you're going to get written testimony from

         23  the Chicago Parks District. We did work on that. And

         24  we will be reaching out to Seattle and the State

         25  Parks. I think it takes thorough research and we are
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          2  doing that. If given a little more time we can get

          3  you more information, and go back and forth with

          4  those questions.

          5                 The issue of oversaturation, because

          6  we confuse naming rights, you know, and naming

          7  rights is something completely different --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'm talking

          9  about concessions.

         10                 MR. DiPALERMO: Yes, concessions, we

         11  haven't -- you see from the National Park Service's

         12  testimony that they put some language in there to

         13  guard against it. They haven't seen that it's become

         14  a major issue.

         15                 I think it is a perception problem. I

         16  don't think it's a substantive problem. I think we

         17  can work through it, and we'll be providing more

         18  models and then working with you to try to figure

         19  that out. I think that's a great idea on the MOU. I

         20  appreciate that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, thank

         22  you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 Let me say that New Yorkers for Parks
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          2  have been very helpful, not just to this Committee

          3  but to me, because I think that with this concession

          4  bill, we started the conversation. And that while,

          5  you know, you have 95 percent of the current members

          6  agreed to it, let's see where we can go. And as you

          7  know, an election year is coming up. But I know that

          8  while there may be bumps in the road in terms of how

          9  people see it in perception versus reality, and how

         10  we proceed, it can be done. And I think when we look

         11  at the numbers from 1980 or '84, it is egregious how

         12  steadily there has been a decline in funding for the

         13  Parks Department.

         14                 And there is no question in my mind

         15  that there is a correlation between communities

         16  thriving, and parks that are thriving, and where you

         17  have parks that aren't working, you can just turn

         18  around and you see a community that's not working.

         19                 So, thank you very much, and this is

         20  just the beginning.

         21                 MR. DiPALERMO: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Our last panel is

         23  Mitchell Balmuth. No? Meeting adjourned. Thank you.

         24                 (Hearing concluded at 3:50 p.m.)
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